PHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS OF NUTRIENT TRANSPORT: CALCIFEROLS AND VITAMIN D-BINDING PROTEIN

by

Tasneem (Taz) Pirani

B.Sc. University of Victoria 2007

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

In the

Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology

© Tasneem Pirani 2011 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Spring 2011

All rights reserved. However, in accordance with the Copyright Act of Canada, this work may be reproduced, without authorization, under the conditions for Fair Dealing. Therefore, limited reproduction of this work for the purposes of private study, research, criticism, review and news reporting is likely to be in accordance with the law, particularly if cited appropriately.

APPROVAL

Name:	Tasneem Pirani
Degree:	Master of Science
Title of Thesis:	Physiological Mechanisms of Nutrient Transport:
	Calciferols and Vitamin D-Binding Protein

Examining Committee:

Chair: Dr. Thomas Claydon Assistant Professor – Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology

Dr. Amandio Vieira Senior Supervisor Associate Professor – Department of Biomedical Physiologyand Kinesiology

Dr. Allan Davison Supervisor Professor Emeritus – Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology

Dr. Chris Kennedy External examiner Professor– Department of Biological Sciences Simon Fraser University

Date Defended/Approved: April 19, 2011

U SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

Declaration of Partial Copyright Licence

The author, whose copyright is declared on the title page of this work, has granted to Simon Fraser University the right to lend this thesis, project or extended essay to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users.

The author has further granted permission to Simon Fraser University to keep or make a digital copy for use in its circulating collection (currently available to the public at the "Institutional Repository" link of the SFU Library website <www.lib.sfu.ca> at: ">http://ir.lib.sfu.ca/handle/1892/112>) and, without changing the content, to translate the thesis/project or extended essays, if technically possible, to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation of the digital work.

The author has further agreed that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by either the author or the Dean of Graduate Studies.

It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without the author's written permission.

Permission for public performance, or limited permission for private scholarly use, of any multimedia materials forming part of this work, may have been granted by the author. This information may be found on the separately catalogued multimedia material and in the signed Partial Copyright Licence.

While licensing SFU to permit the above uses, the author retains copyright in the thesis, project or extended essays, including the right to change the work for subsequent purposes, including editing and publishing the work in whole or in part, and licensing other parties, as the author may desire.

The original Partial Copyright Licence attesting to these terms, and signed by this author, may be found in the original bound copy of this work, retained in the Simon Fraser University Archive.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, BC, Canada



SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY THINKING OF THE WORLD

STATEMENT OF ETHICS APPROVAL

The author, whose name appears on the title page of this work, has obtained, for the research described in this work, either:

- (a) Human research ethics approval from the Simon Fraser University Office of Research Ethics,
- or
- (b) Advance approval of the animal care protocol from the University Animal Care Committee of Simon Fraser University;
- or has conducted the research
- (c) as a co-investigator, collaborator or research assistant in a research project approved in advance,
- or
- (d) as a member of a course approved in advance for minimal risk human research, by the Office of Research Ethics.

A copy of the approval letter has been filed at the Theses Office of the University Library at the time of submission of this thesis or project.

The original application for approval and letter of approval are filed with the relevant offices. Inquiries may be directed to those authorities.

> Simon Fraser University Library Simon Fraser University Burnaby, BC, Canada

> > Last update: Spring 2010

ABSTRACT

Biologically active metabolites of vitamin D affect cell growth and differentiation, and thereby contribute to physiological regulation. Vitamin D-binding protein (DBP) binds 25-hydroxycholecalciferol and other D metabolites, and participates in their delivery to cells. Based on evidence for receptor-mediated endocytosis (RME) of DBP, experiments were performed to analyze DBP transport in animal tissues and cells. The results provide evidence that DBP RME can occur through a pathway that differs from the well-characterized clathrin-dependent endocytic pathway of transferrin (Tf, circulatory iron carrier protein). Moreover, cell growth density has differential effects on (a) the endocytosis of Tf and DBP, and (b) epidermal growth factor-mediated stimulation of DBP endocytosis. Comparative analyses of tissues and cells provides evidence for possible hormonal (e.g., estradiol) and aging effects on transport and receptor-binding parameters of DBP and other nutrient carrier proteins.

Keywords: calciferols, endocytosis, metabolism and nutrition, nutrient transport, vitamin D-binding protein

Subject Terms: biochemistry, cell biology, metabolism, nutrition

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The calciferols collectively make up the different forms of vitamin D, and include the two most physiologically relevant ones, ergocalciferol (D2) and cholecalciferol (D3). Vitamin D3 is the precursor of biologically active, hydroxylated calciferols such as calcidiol (25(OH)D3) and calcitriol $(1,25(OH)_2D3)$, both of which affect cell growth, differentiation, and gene expression through interaction with nuclear vitamin D receptors (VDR). Active metabolites have roles in maintaining bone structure and growth, providing neuroprotection, suppressing carcinogenesis, protecting and against autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis. Vitamin D can be obtained from dietary sources, or from direct production in the body through a process that requires ultraviolet B radiation. Vitamin D and its biologically active metabolites are transported throughout the body via the vitamin D binding protein (DBP). Overall, the role of DBP in vitamin D physiology remains poorly understood. A major objective of this thesis was to gain a more systematic and detailed understanding of DBP transport and physiology. In order to obtain novel information, experiments were completed with the following specific goals:

- to characterize DBP endocytosis in cells, with respect to its occurrence and the type of endocytic pathway;
- to determine the effects of potential modulators such as growth factors (epidermal growth factor, EGF) on the rate of DBP endocytic transport
- to compare accumulation of injected, labelled-DBP in tissues of male

and female mice;

- to compare DBP binding capacities on crude tissue membrane fractions of male/female, and young/old, mice;
- to compare the above DBP transport-related parameters with those of other nutrient carrier proteins such as transferrin (Tf) and retinol binding protein (RBP).

The results of the experiments provide evidence for the existence of functional DBP receptors on the surface of human A431 cells, and in murine cells of the liver, lung, kidney, adipose, and brain. In comparison with transferrin, a well-characterized standard for cell transport studies, a higher level of DBP-binding activity is found on A431 cells, both on intact cells and isolated cell membrane fractions. Studies with endocytic inhibitors show that filipin significantly decreases the amount of DBP endocytosed in hepatocytes, a result consistent with a caveolar endocytic pathway for DBP. Evidence is also obtained that endocytic transport of DBP and Tf may be influenced by cell growth status. When comparing endocytic efficiency, it is found that at low cell-growth densities, Tf endocytosis is significantly more efficient than that of DBP. Moreover, the presence of EGF appears to stimulate DBP endocytic transport, but not at high (≥90 %) cell growth densities. Total DBP membrane binding capacity, however, is similar regardless of EGF treatment or cell growth density. Studies with the redox-sensitive indicator, MTT, provide evidence for a small, but significant increase in cell metabolic activity with EGF treatment at high cell growth densities. Taken together, the EGF results suggest that an

increase in metabolic activity—which could potentially give rise to an increase in cell proliferation—is inversely correlated with DBP endocytic efficiency. This is in agreement with the potential pro-differentiative, anti-proliferative effects of vitamin D.

Gender differences exist with regard to DBP endocytosis, and these differences correlate with the effect of sex hormones on DBP endocytic transport in isolated cells. Overall, *in vivo* (liver tissue) and *in vitro* (isolated hepatocytes) experiments both suggest that male liver cells have a decreased DBP endocytic efficiency relative to female liver cells. Moreover, isolated female hepatocytes in the presence of estradiol exhibit a significantly greater increase in DBP endocytosis relative both to non-estradiol-treated female hepatocytes and to male hepatocytes.

When comparing total binding activity of crude membrane preparations in different mouse tissues, liver is found to have a higher DBP binding activity than the others: lung, kidney, adipose and brain. The contribution of non-specific binding to these differences, however, is not known. When comparing binding to similar membrane extracts prepared from liver, lung, and kidney of old and young mice, statistically significant differences in total binding activity are observed between old and young liver and old and young kidney; in both cases, there is a decrease in the total binding activity in the older tissues. In conclusion, this thesis provides novel findings regarding the physiology of DBP transport, as well as novel comparisons of these findings with other nutrient carriers such as Tf and RBP.

vi

DEDICATION

? would like to dedicate this work to my loving parents and to my

dear fiancée, for their constant support, encouragement and love.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many people whom I would like to thank for contributing to the achievement of my Master's degree.

Firstly, I would like to thank my senior supervisor, Dr. Amandio Vieira, for allowing me the privilege to work with him. His unwavering support and guidance were key to my timely success and I can only hope that other graduate students can be as lucky as I to have such an invaluable mentor.

I would like to thank Dr. Allan Davison for his ever-insightful and detailed suggestions and comments throughout my thesis project. I am grateful for his eye-opening and knowledgeable advice in the areas of scientific writing and research. I am forever indebted to Vai Hong, whose patience, guidance and kind words were never-ending. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Chris Kennedy for his time and constructive feedback with regard to my thesis.

I would like to recognize all my amazing professors who have graciously shared their knowledge and wisdom, Susie Nugent whose kindness, encouragement and help have been invaluable, and my close fellow grad-students who have provided friendship, understanding and balance.

Last, but nowhere near least, I would like to thank my loving parents and my dearest fiancée for their incessant encouragement, unconditional love and support; my family for their prayers and God, to whom all praise is due.

viii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstractiii Executive Summaryiv Dedication
Executive Summaryiv
Dedicationvii
Acknowledgementsviii
Table of Contentsix
List of Figuresxi
List of Abbreviationsxiii

Chapter 1:	Introduction and main objectives	1
1.1	Overview of project and main objectives	1
1.2	Background information	4
1.2.1	Vitamin D metabolites and their biological functions	4
1.2.2	Vitamin D binding protein (DBP)	11
1.2.3	Endocytic transport – an overview of pathways	16
1.2	.3.1 Clathrin Mediated Endocytosis	17
1.2.4	Receptor-mediated endocytosis of nutrients and their	
	carrier proteins	19
1.2	.4.1 Endocytosis of vitamin D and DBP	21
1.3	Main hypothesis tested	26
Chapter 2:	Materials and methods	27
2.1	Chemicals and biochemical reagents	27
2.2	Cells, cell preparations and animals	28
2.3	Major Methods	30
2.3.1	Ligand biotinylation	30
2.3.2	Endocytosis assays	30
2.3.3	Preparation of antibody-coated plates	32
2.3.4	Mouse tissue analysis for b-DBP	32
2.3.5	Analysis of DBP binding to crude membranes prepared	
	from tissues and A431 membranes	35
2.3.6	Analyses of DBP binding to cells	36
2.4	Statistics	36
Chapter 3:	Receptor-mediated endocytic transport of DBP and other	
nutrient ca	arrier proteins	37
3.1	Introduction	37
3.2	Results and Discussion	38

Chapte and me	r 4: Gender and aging effects on DBP tissue accumulatior mbrane binding) 47
4.1 4.2	Introduction Results and Discussion	47 49
Chapte physiol	r 5: Modulation of DBP transport: some additional ogical and comparative aspects	57
5.1 5.2	Introduction Results and Discussion	57 58
Chapte	r 6: Conclusions and future directions	75
6.1 6.2	Conclusions Future directions	75 77
Append	lix: Novel murine hepatocyte preparation method	78
Referer	nce List	81

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1	Summary of major experiments related to the physiology of DBP transport.	. 3
Figure 1-2	Chemical structures of 7-dehydrocholesterol and three calciferols	.6
Figure 1-3	Molecular model of vitamin D binding protein.	15
Figure 1-4	Schematic of megalin-cubilin-mediated endocytosis of DBP	25
Figure 2-1	Flowchart of tissue accumulation analysis procedure	34
Figure 3-1	Comparison of total Tf and DBP binding to A431 cells and membranes.	40
Figure 3-2	Comparison of total DBP binding capacities in crude membrane preparations from various mouse tissues	43
Figure 3-3	Comparison of accumulation to binding ratios of different mouse tissues	44
Figure 3-4	Comparison of the effects of different endocytic modulators on DBP internalization by hepatocytes.	46
Figure 4-1	Comparison of stav-DBP accumulation levels in male and female tissues	52
Figure 4-2	Comparison of b-DBP tissue accumulation to binding in terms of male/female ratios	53
Figure 4-3	Comparison of two vitamin binding proteins, DBP and RBP, in terms of endocytic activity in male and female hepatocyte cells	54
Figure 4-4	Effects of aging on tissue binding capacity of DBP	56
Figure 5-1	Relative effects of cell growth density on the accumulation of two nutrient carrier proteins, vitamin D-binding protein and transferrin	51
Figure 5-2	Comparison of the accumulation efficiency of DBP and Tf	32
Figure 5-3	Relative effects of cell growth density on the membrane binding of two nutrient carrier proteins, vitamin D-binding protein and transferrin	63
Figure 5-4	Relative effects of cell growth density on the endocytosis of two nutrient carrier proteins, DBP and Tf	54
Figure 5-5	Effects of epidermal growth factor on cellular DBP accumulation at two different cell growth confluencies	58

Figure 5-6	Effects of epidermal growth factor on DBP binding at two different cell growth densities	69
Figure 5-7	Effects of epidermal growth factor on DBP endocytosis corrected for binding.	70
Figure 5-8	Metabolic effects of 30 minute epidermal growth factor treatment at two different cell growth densities	71
Figure 5-9	Metabolic effects of 48 hour epidermal growth factor treatment at two different cell growth densities	72
Figure 5-10	Effects of estradiol on DBP endocytosis in male and female hepatocytes	74
Figure A-1	Murine hepatocytes prepared by the simplified EDTA-sucrose method	80

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

b-X	Biotinylated-X (X = DBP, Tf, or other ligand)
BNHS	Biotin N-hydroxysuccinimide ester
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
СМЕ	Clathrin-mediated endocytosis
СҮР	Cytochrome protein
D2	Vitamin D2 or ergocalciferol
D3	Vitamin D3 or cholecalciferol
DBP	Vitamin D binding protein
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
EB	Extraction buffer
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
Esa	Enzyme (E, peroxidase enzyme) complexed with streptavidin (Sa)
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
HEPES	4-(2-Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-1-ethanesulfonic acid N-(2-Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-N'-(2-ethanesulfonic acid)
HRP	Horseradish peroxidise
KSHM	100mM Potassium acetate, 85mM sucrose, 20mM Hepes, 1mM magnesium acetate, pH 7.4

МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
МТТ	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrasodium bromide
MW	Molecular weight
OPD	Ortho-phenylene diamine
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PI	Post-injection of animals or (p.i.) post-incubation of cells
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLA2	Phospholipase A2
PLC	Phospholipase C
RA	Retinoic acid
Raf	Rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma (kinase)
RBP	Retinol-binding protein
RME	Receptor-mediated endocytosis
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SFM	Serum free medium
SICM	Semi-intact cells and membranes
Src	Sarcoma Kinase
STAV-HRP	Streptavidin-HRP
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TBST	Tris-buffered saline with 0.1% Tween 20

Tf	Transferrin
TTR	Transthyretin (original name: pre-albumin)
UVB	Ultraviolet B light
VDR	Vitamin D receptor (nuclear)

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND MAIN OBJECTIVES

1.1 Overview of project and main objectives

Biologically active metabolites of vitamin D have a wide range of physiological functions based on their ability to affect cell growth and differentiation. Vitamin D is typically obtained from the diet, and can also be synthesized in the body upon exposure to ultraviolet B radiation. Vitamin D can be stored in the body, primarily in the liver, and transported bound to vitamin D-binding protein (DBP) through the blood to different body tissues. The molecular mechanisms by which DBP is internalized and vitamin D is absorbed by cells are incompletely understood.

The *main objectives* of this MSc thesis project were to obtain a more systematic and detailed understanding of (**a**) DBP endocytic transport, (**b**) the influence of cell growth and selected hormones on such transport, (**c**) potential gender differences on DBP tissue accumulation and cell transport, e.g., sex

hormones as potential modulators of transport, and **(d)** potential age effects on DBP tissue binding. Moreover, **(e)** comparative studies with other nutrient carrier proteins such as retinol-binding protein (RBP; carrier of vitamin A) and transferrin (Tf; carrier of iron) have also been included.

More specifically, experiments have been carried out with the following specific goals (each represents an attempt to obtain novel and important information in this field):

- to characterize DBP endocytosis in cells, with respect to its occurrence and the type of endocytic pathway;
- to determine the effects of potential modulators such as growth factors (epidermal growth factor) on the rate of DBP endocytic transport
- to compare accumulation of injected, labelled-DBP in tissues of male and female mice;
- to compare DBP binding capacities on crude tissue membrane fractions of male/female, and young/old, mice;
- to compare the above DBP transport-related parameters with those of other nutrient carrier proteins such as Tf and RBP.

The main experiments related to the physiology of DBP transport are shown schematically in Figure 1-1.



Figure 1-1 Summary of major experiments related to the physiology of DBP transport.

1.2 Background information

1.2.1 Vitamin D metabolites and their biological functions

Vitamin D forms are collectively known as the calciferols (or calcipherols). Five forms have been noted in the literature, including D2, ergocalciferol, D3, cholecalciferol, D4, 22,23-dihydroergocalciferol, D5, sitosterol, and D6, stigmasterol (Mehta & Mehta, 2002; Napoli, Fivizzani, Schnoes, & DeLuca, 1979); the historical term D1 is no longer used. The most physiologically important forms are D2 and D3. The D3 form is found in humans and other animals; in contrast, D2 is found in plants and typically forms less potent hormone derivatives in mammals.

Vitamin D3 is the precursor of biologically active, hydroxylated calciferols such as calcidiol (25(OH)D3, also called 25-hydroxycholecalciferol), the dominant circulating metabolite, 1-calcitriol (1,25(OH)₂D3, also called 1-alpha, 25-dihydroxycholecalciferol), the dominant active metabolite of vitamin D, and 24-calcitriol (24,25(OH)₂D3, also called 24,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol) (Rowling, Kemmis, Taffany, & Welsh, 2006; P. White & Cooke, 2000). Calciferol structures are shown in Figure 1-2.

The effects of biologically active calciferols have been studied in many physiological and pathological contexts, including those on gene expression, specifically regarding pro-differentiation, anti-proliferation, and apoptosis in cells (Colston, Colston, & Feldman, 1981), (Blutt, McDonnell, Polek, & Weigel, 2000). Vitamin D metabolites have been reported to increase innate immune system

defence mechanisms (Bhalla, Amento, & Krane, 1986; Holick, 2007; Ohta, Okabe, Ozawa, Urabe, & Takaku, 1985; van Etten & Mathieu, 2005) and to suppress carcinogenesis, particularly of colon, breast, ovarian and prostate cancers (C. F. Garland & Garland, 1980; C. F. Garland et al., 1989; F. C. Garland, Garland, Gorham, & Young, 1990; Lefkowitz & Garland, 1994; Schwartz & Hulka, 1990). Biosynthesis of 1-calcitriol by cells of the central nervous system has also been associated with neuroprotective effects due to up-regulation of neurotrophins (Garcion, Wion-Barbot, Montero-Menei, Berger, & Wion, 2002; Riaz, Malcangio, Miller, & Tomlinson, 1999; Y. Wang et al., 2000). Moreover, the positive effects of calciferols on bone structure, health and growth, and calcium and phosphate homeostasis, have been frequently reported (Bischoff-Ferrari, Dietrich, Orav, & Dawson-Hughes, 2004; Specker et al., 1992).



Figure 1-2 Chemical structures of 7-dehydrocholesterol and three calciferols.

7-dehydrocholesterol (pro-vitamin D) is the upper left structure. Vitamin D2, ergocalciferol, is shown in the upper right. And D3, cholecalciferol, in the lower left. The triple-hydroxyl calcitriol, $1,25(OH)_2D3$, is shown in the lower right.

Dietary sources of vitamin D include fatty fish such as catfish, mackerel, salmon, sardines, and tuna, which provide the most abundant natural sources of Vitamin D, as well as liver, eggs or certain plants and fungi (Calvo, Whiting, & Barton, 2004; Koyyalamudi, Jeong, Song, Cho, & Pang, 2009). As well, many foods including milk and other dairy products, margarines, breads and cereals are fortified with Vitamin D, and vitamin D supplements are also available and commonly used (Calvo et al., 2004). Pro-hormone Vitamin D such as D3 is typically obtained from dietary sources; and after ingestion and absorption, it is transported via carriers such as chylomicrons or plasma binding proteins through the blood to various organs including the liver (Avioli, 1969; Dueland, Helgerud, Pedersen, Berg, & Drevon, 1983; Dueland, Pedersen, Helgerud, & Drevon, 1983).

Vitamin D3 can also be produced in the body from 7-dehydrocholesterol (7dC, also called pro-vitamin D) in a process that requires ultraviolet B light (UVB, 290-320 nm). In the body, 7dc is most concentrated in the stratus spinosum and stratus basale of the outer epidermis of the skin (Norman, 1998). In the presence of UVB, 7dC is converted to pre-vitamin D3, after B-ring photolysis and cleavage (See Figure 1-2), which then spontaneously isomerizes to the secosteroid D3 (Mehta & Mehta, 2002). D3 synthesis is dependent on skin pigmentation, but more importantly on substrate availability and quantity and quality of sun exposure; the amount of D3 synthesized is usually within about 15% of the amount of 7dC available (Norman, 1998; Webb, Kline, & Holick, 1988). Interestingly, studies have found that geographical latitude plays a role on the prevalence of diseases such as multiple sclerosis (van der Mei, Ponsonby,

Blizzard, & Dwyer, 2001), some cancers (Grant, 2003), inflammatory bowel disease (Sonnenberg, McCarty, & Jacobsen, 1991), osteoporosis (Hagenau et al., 2009), type 1 diabetes (Staples, Posonby, Lim, & McMichael, 2003) and rheumatoid arthritis (Cantorna, 2000); and there is evidence that vitamin D3 availability may decrease the risk of some of these diseases (Grant, 2003; Holick, 2003). It has been established that, although dietary sources provide immediate availability of D3, synthesis upon UV irradiation provides a more sustained and bioavailable source of this sterol (J. G. Haddad Jr & Hahn, 1973; J. G. Haddad, Matsuoka, Hollis, Hu, & Wortsman, 1993; Whyte, Haddad, Walters, & Stamp, 1979).

The vitamin D binding protein (DBP) carries D3 in the circulation to its activation sites in the liver, then to the kidney for further activation, and subsequently to many other tissues. DBP also transports the active forms of the vitamin such as calcidiol (P. White & Cooke, 2000). Overall, the role of DBP in vitamin D physiology remains poorly understood (see Section 1.2.2).

Synthesis of biologically active calciferols can occur in different tissues. Calcidiol is primarily synthesized in the liver and skin. Both calcitriol metabolites are synthesized predominantly in the kidney, where the enzymes 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 1α-hydroxylase (CYP27B1) and D-24-hydroxylase (CYP24) convert calcidiol to 1-calcitriol and 24-calcitriol, respectively (Schwartz, Whitlatch, Chen, Lokeshwar, & Holick, 1998; St-Arnaud et al., 2000; Zehnder et al., 2001). Found in the kidneys and the intestine, CYP24 is also able to convert 1-calcitriol to calcitroic acid, an inactive metabolite that is subsequently excreted in bile (Holick,

2008), or 24-calcitriol, the first substrate in the chain of events leading to the inactivation of vitamin D metabolites via the 24-oxidation pathway (St-Arnaud et al., 2000). In addition, active metabolite conversion can occur in immune cells such as active T cells (Sigmundsdottir et al., 2007), dendritic cells (Fritsche, Mondal, Ehrnsperger, Andreesen, & Kreutz, 2003) and macrophages (van Etten & Mathieu, 2005). As with most of the other fat-soluble vitamins, vitamin D is also stored in adipose tissue (Jones, Strugnell, & DeLuca, 1998).

Active forms of vitamin D can affect the expression of many genes by modulating their transcription. This is achieved through the interaction of these metabolites with the nuclear vitamin D receptor (VDR). Specifically, VDRs containing one of the active hydroxylated forms interact with a partner nuclear receptor protein (e.g., retinoid X receptor, RXR), with DNA, and with many other co-regulatory proteins (Garcion et al., 2002). For example, 1-calcitriol in neuronal cells has been shown to provide neuroprotection via several genetic regulatory mechanisms; by means of either up- or down-regulation of neurotrophin synthesis, this metabolite and its nuclear receptor, reduces hypokinesia and neurotoxicity (J. Y. Wang et al., 2001). Similarly, the effects of 1-calcitriol are accomplished through the up-regulation of y-glutamyl transpeptidase and the reduction of both neuronal Ca²⁺ concentrations and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) production (Brewer et al., 2001; Dringen, Gutterer, & Hirrlinger, 2000; Garcion et al., 1998; Garcion, Sindji, Leblondel, Brachet, & Darcy, 1999). In the context of some cancers, the VDR 1-calcitriol-induced transcription factor is thought to increase expression of immune stimulating factors and the p75

receptor, lending to cell death, and decrease tenascin-C production resulting in reduced growth, invasion and angiogenesis (Alvarez-Dolado, Gonzalez-Sancho, Navarro-Yubero, Garcia-Fernandez, & Munoz, 1999; Furman, Baudet, & Brachet, 1996; Meldolesi, Sciorati, & Clementi, 2000). In animal models, treatment with 1–calcitriol has also been associated with the down-regulation of expression of various factors, including iNOS, and provides a protective effect against encephalitis and the progression of autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis (Eikelenboom, Killestein, Kragt, Uitdehaag, & Polman, 2009; Garcion, Nataf, Berod, Darcy, & Brachet, 1997; Hayes, 2000; Lemire & Archer, 1991; Mattner et al., 2000).

In addition to biological effects of hydroxylated forms of vitamin D mediated by VDRs and changes in gene expression, there is evidence for more immediate biological effects that do not depend directly on changes in gene expression. Typically, these are effects at the plasma membrane and are much faster, taking seconds to minutes, when compared to genomic actions that can take several hours to days (Mizwicki & Norman, 2009). The initiation of intestinal calcium transport by 1-calcitriol was the first of these non-genomic responses to be clearly evidenced, after which several other responses have been confirmed. With binding to caveolae-associated VDRs, 1-calcitriol can initiate calcium signalling, modulate cell exocytic transport and promote PKC, PLC, PLA₂, MAPK, Raf, Src and G-protein activation through rapid non-genomic action (Bissonnette et al., 1994; Boyan et al., 1998; de Boland & Norman, 1998; Gniadecki, 1996; Gniadecki, 1998; Khare et al., 1994; Khare et al., 1997; Mizwicki & Norman, 2009;

Nguyen et al., 2004; Selles & Boland, 1991). Other responses mediated by 1-calcitriol include vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation, cell migration, sphingomyelin hydrolysis, insulin secretion, phospholipid metabolism and regulation of myocyte contraction and relaxation (Bhatia, Kirkland, & Meckling-Gill, 1995; Bourdeau, Atmani, Grosse, & Lieberherr, 1990; Gniadecki, 1996; Kajikawa et al., 1999; Rebsamen, Sun, Norman, & Liao, 2002; Tishkoff, Nibbelink, Holmberg, Dandu, & Simpson, 2008). Both the cell membrane and cell nucleus-associated receptors exhibit strong binding to vitamin D metabolites, with an affinity of approximately 1 nM (Norman, Olivera, Barreto Silva, & Bishop, 2002); however, nuclear-VDR exhibits stronger binding with 6-*s*-*trans* shaped 1-calcitriol ligand, while the caveolae-associated VDR exhibits stronger binding with 6-*s*-*cis* shaped ligand (Norman, Mizwicki, & Norman, 2004; Norman, 2008).

1.2.2 Vitamin D binding protein (DBP)

The 52 kDa DBP, mainly synthesized and secreted by hepatic cells in the liver, is present in human serum and has been detected in the sera of various animals including the rat and mouse, rabbit, turtle and chicken (Burnside & Sofer, 1999; Cooke & David, 1985; Cooke, 1986; Hunt & Licht, 1998; Osawa, Tsuji, Yukawa, Saito, & Takeichi, 1994; F. Yang et al., 1990). Serum concentrations in healthy individuals are usually found in the range of 300-600 mg/L (M. M. Speeckaert et al., 2008). DBP is a member of the albumin protein family; however, despite the close linkage of this gene family on human chromosome 4, the

functions of DBP differ greatly compared to those of its other family members including albumin, α -fetoprotein and α -albumin/afamin (P. White & Cooke, 2000).

Because DBP is present in the plasma at concentrations 20 times that of all its metabolites, the majority of vitamin D metabolites (>88% of calcidiol and >99% of calcitriol) in circulation are bound by this protein carrier under normal physiologic conditions (Bikle et al., 1986; M. Speeckaert, Huang, Delanghe, & Taes, 2006; P. White & Cooke, 2000). Typically, these DBP concentrations remain at consistent levels from infancy to adulthood, with the exception of greatly increased concentrations during pregnancy and with oestrogen therapy (M. Speeckaert et al., 2006; M. M. Speeckaert et al., 2010).

In addition to transport of sterols, DBP acts as a G-actin scavenger and, together with the serum protein gelsolin, helps to protect its host from actin-mediated damage in the microvasculature during events of chronic inflammation, trauma or necrosis (J. G. Haddad et al., 1992; Lee & Galbraith, 1992; P. White & Cooke, 2000). G-actin becomes bound to a C-terminus domain on DBP with high affinity (M. M. Speeckaert et al., 2010). Some studies have even shown that mortality caused by organ failures, particularly acute liver failure, can be predicted by determining actin-free DBP concentrations in the plasma (Lee et al., 1995; Schiodt et al., 1996; Schiodt et al., 2005); the lower the plasma levels of actin-free DBP the greater is the risk of organ failure. DBP may play a role in the transdifferentiation of hepatic stellate cells to myofibroblasts during fibrogenesis (Gressner, Lahme, & Gressner, 2008). In vitro studies have shown that after activation of DBP through de-glycoslylation by B- and T-cell enzymes, the

resulting DBP-macrophage-activating factor (DBP-MAF) complex, in turn, causes macrophage activation (Yamamoto, Homma, Haddad, & Kowalski, 1991; Yamamoto & Kumashiro, 1993; Yamamoto & Naraparaju, 1996). DBP has also been shown to bind to CD44 and annexin A2 binding sites on the cell surface of certain leukocytes, specifically macrophages and neutrophils, and increase their chemo-attraction to C5a, potentially recruiting these cells to sites of hepatic inflammation (Gressner et al., 2008; Kew & Webster, 1988; Perez, 1994; Piquette, Robinson-Hill, & Webster, 1994).

The crystal structure of human DBP is shown in Figure 1-3. It is composed of several alpha helices that create three domains: 10 helices make up the first domain, 10 also compose the second, and the third domain contains 4 helices (Verboven et al., 2002). Multiple allele variances have been identified for this polymorphic protein, three of which are most common and co-dominant (DBP 1-1, DBP 2-1 and DBP 2-2) (M. M. Speeckaert et al., 2010; P. White & Cooke, 2000). DBP and its other family members with homologous structures, albumin, α-fetoprotein, and afamin, all bind free fatty acids; but DBP differs slightly in its helical organization and this difference allows it to have unique functions such as binding of vitamin D (Ena, Esteban, Perez, Uriel, & Calvo, 1989; Williams, Van Alstyne, & Galbraith, 1988). Although it binds both vitamin D and various D analogs, DBP's affinity is highest for 1-calcitriol with a $K_a = 5 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1}$ (P. White & Cooke, 2000). The binding site for vitamin D3 ligands is located in the N-terminal region of domain 1, from residues 35-49, helices 1-6 (Meier, Gressner, Lammert, & Gressner, 2006; Verboven et al., 2002).

The functions attributed to DBP also stem from its interaction sites for several cell-surface receptors including megalin. There is evidence that megalin is the primary receptor for DBP uptake in some tissues such as the kidney (Section 1.2.4.1). Other DBP receptors identified to date include cubilin, chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans, CD44/HCAM, and annexin A2 (DiMartino & Kew, 1999; Gressner et al., 2008; McVoy & Kew, 2005; Meier et al., 2006; Nykjaer et al., 2001).

DBP can interact with various lipoproteins. In addition to its significant correlation with total plasma cholesterol (r=0.40; p<0.0001), serum DBP concentrations were also highly correlated to both LDL-cholesterol (r=0.34; p<0.005) and triglyceride (r=0.65; p<0.0001) levels (M. M. Speeckaert et al., 2008). Studies using various precipitation methods have found that DBP co-precipitates in part with VLDL and LDL; this result indicates that a fraction of circulatory DBP may be bound to these lipoproteins (M. M. Speeckaert et al., 2008; M. M. Speeckaert et al., 2010, M. Speeckaert et al., 2008; M. M. Speeckaert et al., 2010, M. Speeckaert et al., 2008; M. M. Speeckaert et al., 2010, This is especially significant for cystic fibrosis patients—whose mean DBP serum concentrations are known to be considerably (18-20%) lower than healthy individuals—as body weight and body fat are determining factors in their survival (Coppenhaver et al., 1981; Corey, McLaughlin, Williams, & Levison, 1988).



Figure 1-3 Molecular model of vitamin D binding protein.

The structure is composed of a total of 24 alpha helices that make up three domains. The first and second domains are made up of 10 alpha helices each, while the third domain is made up of 4. Source: Wikipedia, copyright-free image.

1.2.3 Endocytic transport – an overview of pathways

The cellular plasma membrane controls the endocytosis and exocytosis of many types of molecules. Endocytosis refers specifically to the uptake or internalization of extracellular components into the cell, while exocytosis refers to the delivery of intracellular components to the plasma membrane and possible secretion (or excretion) of these components from the cell. Through these two tightly regulated transport mechanisms, the cell is able to effectively obtain nutrients from, and react to and influence, its environment. There are several specific endocytic pathways that have been characterized; these include clathrin-mediated endocytosis, caveolar-type endocytosis, CLIC/GEEC-type endocytosis, flotillin-dependent endocytosis, Arf6-dependent endocytosis, circular dorsal ruffles, and the $IL2R\beta$ endocytic pathway (Doherty & McMahon, 2009).

Two more general categories of endocytosis, pinocytosis and phagocytosis, refer to the uptake of solutes and fluid, and uptake of large particles, respectively (Conner & Schmid, 2003). Phagocytosis occurs mainly in specialized mammalian cells. By this process the plasma membrane envelops large particles, and the particles are then internalized as an intracellular phagosome (Conner & Schmid, 2003; Mukherjee, Ghosh, & Maxfield, 1997). Pinocytosis typically refers to at least four basic mechanisms: macropinocytosis, clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME), caveolae-mediated endocytosis, and clathrin- and caveolae-independent endocytosis (Conner & Schmid, 2003;

Rodemer & Haucke, 2008). Different ligands and receptors can enter the cell through different endocytotic pathways (Conner & Schmid, 2003).

All of these endocytic events are highly controlled and influence a variety of physiological processes. For example, endocytic transport regulates several important processes including nutrient uptake, cell signalling, cell migration, growth, differentiation and mitosis, pathogen entry, drug delivery, phagocytic cell function and antigen presentation (Doherty & McMahon, 2009). Each of these processes may employ a specific endocytic pathway, but may also have the ability to use different pathways, especially to compensate for the potential loss of one route of entry or uptake.

1.2.3.1 Clathrin-mediated endocytosis

Of all the internalization pathways, clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME) is best understood. In CME, nutritive and regulatory ligands along with their receptors are endocytosed into clathrin-coated vesicles that bud from phosphatidylinositol 4,5,-bisphosphate (PIP₂)-enriched sites at the plasma membrane and deliver their cargo to the endosomal compartments (Galli & Haucke, 2004; Krauss & Haucke, 2007; Schweizer & Ryan, 2006); ligands or receptors, or some of their components, may be subsequently recycled out of the cell or degraded in the cell. Receptor-mediated uptake of iron-transferrin (Tf), epidermal growth factor (EGF), and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) typically occurs via CME (Rodemer & Haucke, 2008). Clathrin is a heteromeric complex containing three heavy and three light chains, and associates with the membrane

through adaptor proteins; receptors and other integral membrane proteins can also connect to the clathrin lattice via adaptor proteins (Kirchhausen, 2000; Rodemer & Haucke, 2008). Additional, accessory and cytoskeletal proteins can influence CME by, for example, promoting polymerization of clathrin, curvature of the membrane, or fission of the membrane (Rappoport, 2008; Takei, McPherson, Schmid, & De Camilli, 1995; Yarar, Waterman-Storer, & Schmid, 2005). The GTPase dynamin participates in the fission of various types of pits, including clathrin-coated and caveolin-coated pits from the plasma membrane (Bashkirov et al., 2008; Conner & Schmid, 2003; Pucadyil & Schmid, 2008).

Adaptor and accessory proteins can bind the phospholipid PIP₂ that accumulates at CME sites (Beck & Keen, 1991; Ford et al., 2001; Ford et al., 2002; Zoncu et al., 2007). Among the adaptor proteins, the AP-2 complex participates in cargo selection and recruitment of accessory proteins (Robinson & Bonifacino, 2001); there is genetic (Gonzalez-Gaitan & Jackle, 1997; Mitsunari et al., 2005), biochemical (Edeling, Smith, & Owen, 2006; Praefcke et al., 2004), and cytological (Hinrichsen, Harborth, Andrees, Weber, & Ungewickell, 2003; F. Huang, Khvorova, Marshall, & Sorkin, 2004; Motley, Bright, Seaman, & Robinson, 2003) evidence for its central role in CME. Clathrin-coat-associated sorting proteins (CLASPs) include AP-2 and other adaptors that connect the clathrin lattice with integral membrane components and, hence, participate in cargo selection (Haucke, 2006; Lakadamyali, Rust, & Zhuang, 2006; Lewin & Mellman, 1998; Traub, 2005).

1.2.4 Receptor-mediated endocytosis of nutrients and their carrier proteins

Receptor-mediated endocytosis (RME) allows dilute extracellular ligands to be captured and concentrated on pits and in vesicles through the specific action of receptors; non-specific uptake, e.g., of extracellular fluid, does not result in such concentration of specific substances during transport (Alberts et al., 2002; Conner & Schmid, 2003). In RME, the extracellular ligand binds to its complementary membrane receptor, and then the plasma membrane region containing the receptor-ligand complex enters the cell, by CME or other specific endocytic pathways (Alberts et al., 2002; Lodish et al., 2000). The rate at which a particular ligand is internalized depends on several factors including the level of expression of its receptor on the cell surface (Lodish et al., 2000) and the efficiency of the endocytic machinery.

Twenty five or more different receptors are presently known to participate in RME through the clathrin-pathway; and some of these receptors, e.g. Tf and LDL, enter the CME pathway regardless of whether ligand is present or not (Alberts et al., 2002). Other receptors, such as those for growth factors like EGF, are recruited to this pathway only when bound to a specific ligand (Alberts et al., 2002). RME can serve various purposes such as generation of cellular signalling, as with the EGF-EGF receptor (EGFR), and transport of nutrients, as with the transferrin-transferrin receptor (Tf-TfR) (Shankaran, Resat, & Wiley, 2007).

Some of the studies for this thesis project involve nutrient carrier proteins other than DBP. Before discussing endocytosis of DBP (in a separate section below, 1.2.4.1), I will briefly summarize the RME of the two main circulatory
nutrient carriers involved in comparative studies for this thesis project: the iron carrier transferrin (Tf) and the vitamin A carrier retinol-binding protein (RBP).

The existence of cell surface RBP receptors has been suggested by many studies (Blaner, 2007; Bok & Heller, 1976; Creek, Silverman-Jones, & De Luca, 1989; Fortuna, Martucci, Trugo, & Borojevic, 2003; Hagen et al., 1999; Heller, 1975; Hodam, St Hilaire, & Creek, 1991; J. Huang & Vieira, 2006; Kawaguchi et al., 2007; MacDonald, Bok, & Ong, 1990; Mansouri et al., 1998; McGuire, Orgebin-Crist, & Chytil, 1981; Rask & Peterson, 1976; Redondo, Vouropoulou, Evans, & Findlay, 2008; Senoo et al., 1990; Senoo et al., 1993; Sivaprasadarao & Findlay, 1988; Smeland et al., 1995; Sundaram, Sivaprasadarao, DeSousa, & Findlay, 1998; Vahlquist & Torma, 1992). Cells may use different RBP and vitamin A uptake mechanisms, as may be the case with some other vitamins and other regulatory factors (Prasad & Ganapathy, 2000; Ritter, Fajardo, Matsue, Anderson, & Lacey, 1995; A. V. Vieira, White, & Vieira, 1996). Most recently, STRA6 (stimulated by retinoic acid gene 6), a 74 kDa integral membrane protein with several transmembrane domains has been identified as a mediator of retinol uptake from RBP (Blaner, 2007; Kawaguchi et al., 2007; Kawaguchi, Yu, Wiita, Honda, & Sun, 2008; Kawaguchi, Yu, Wiita, Ter-Stepanian, & Sun, 2008; T. White et al., 2008; Wolf, 2007). Mutations in human STRA6 result in various severe pathological phenotypes such as anophthalmia/microphthalmia (A/M) (T. White et al., 2008), mental retardation, congenital heart defects, lung hyperplasia, diaphragmatic hernia, alveolar capillary dysplasia, and others (Golzio et al., 2007;

Kawaguchi, Yu, Wiita, Ter-Stepanian et al., 2008; Pasutto et al., 2007) that are thought to result from the disruption of normal vitamin levels in cells.

Tf is often used as a standard in endocytic transport studies because its receptor-mediated endocytosis is well characterized (Abe, Inoue, Galvez, Klein, & Meyer, 2008; Johnson, Chen, Murchison, Green, & Enns, 2007; Oshiro et al., 1993; Ponka & Lok, 1999). Serum Tf is part of a family of proteins that includes ovotransferrin in oocytes, and lactoferrin in milk (Daniels, Delgado, Rodriguez, Helguera, & Penichet, 2006). The transferrin receptor (TfR, CD71) is an essential protein required for iron uptake, regulation of cell growth and cell survival (Aisen, 2004; Morgan, Smith, & Peters, 1986; Young, Roberts, & Bomford, 1985). Diferric Tf binds to the TfR and both are internalized through clathrin-coated pits (further discussed above).

1.2.4.1 Endocytosis of vitamin D and DBP

DBP has been found to interact with two endocytic receptors, megalin and cubilin; the former has been put forth, with strengthening evidence, as the primary receptor for DBP uptake in some cell types, particularly in the kidney (Christensen & Birn, 2002; Gressner et al., 2008; Nykjaer et al., 1999).

Megalin is a 600 kDa, single-spanning transmembrane glycoprotein and has homology to the low-density lipoprotein receptor family (Christensen & Birn, 2002). This endocytic receptor, located in epithelial cell plasma membranes, has been found in a number of sites throughout the body including the proximal-tubule cells of the kidney (Chatelet, Brianti, Ronco, Roland, & Verroust, 1986a;

Kerjaschki & Farquhar, 1982; Sahali et al., 1988; Seetharam, Levine, Ramasamy, & Alpers, 1988), thryocytes, ependymal cells lining the cerebral ventricles, the epididymus, type II pneumocytes of the lung alveoli (Chatelet, Brianti, Ronco, Roland, & Verroust, 1986b; Kounnas, Haudenschild, Strickland, & Argraves, 1994; Zheng et al., 1994), absorptive intestinal cells (Birn et al., 1997; Levine, Allen, Alpers, & Seetharam, 1984), the placenta (Juhlin et al., 1990; Sahali et al., 1992), oviduct (Zheng et al., 1994), endometrium (Bernadotte, Holmdahl, Juhlin, & Mattsson, 1989; Sahali et al., 1992), visceral yolk sac (Chatelet, Brianti, Ronco, Roland, & Verroust, 1986b; Sahali et al., 1988), mammary cells (Rowling et al., 2006), cells of the inner ear (Kounnas et al., 1994; Mizuta et al., 1999), secretory cells of the parathyroid (Juhlin et al., 1990), and in cilliary epithelium of the eye (Zheng et al., 1994). Megalin expression seems to be preferential to highly differentiated epithelial cells, and can be induced by vitamin D (Liu et al., 1998). Overall, megalin functions in RME and has recently been found to interact with and co-internalize cubilin (Moestrup et al., 1998; Nykjaer et al., 2001). In addition to DBP, a large number of other ligands have been identified for this cell surface receptor including Ca²⁺ (required for megalin-mediated endocytosis of DBP) (Christensen, Gliemann, & Moestrup, 1992), RBP (Christensen et al., 1999), lactoferrin (Willnow, Goldstein, Orth, Brown, & Herz, 1992), apoE and albumin (Cui, Verroust, Moestrup, & Christensen, 1996) as well as many other proteins, lipoproteins, hormones, and enzymes (Christensen & Birn, 2002).

Cubilin is a 460 kDa glycoprotein. Unlike megalin, it is a peripheral membrane protein. Cubilin does not have homology to any other receptor family.

This receptor co-localizes with megalin in the kidney (Chatelet, Brianti, Ronco, Roland, & Verroust, 1986a; Kerjaschki & Farquhar, 1982; Sahali et al., 1988; Seetharam et al., 1988), intestine (Birn et al., 1997; Levine et al., 1984), placenta (Juhlin et al., 1990; Sahali et al., 1992), visceral yolk sac (Chatelet, Brianti, Ronco, Roland, & Verroust, 1986b; Sahali et al., 1988) and in mammary cells (Rowling et al., 2006). Despite also being a multi-ligand receptor, it binds fewer ligands than megalin. Some cubilin ligands include transferrin (Kozyraki et al., 2001), apoA-I and high-density lipoprotein (Hammad et al., 1999). Both cubilin and megalin tightly bind DBP, albeit with slightly different affinities, $K_d = 110 \pm 15$ nM for cubilin and 120 \pm 27 nM for megalin (Nykjaer et al., 2001).

After filtration of the DBP complex within the renal glomeruli, both megalin and cubilin allow for the (re)uptake of calcidiol-DBP in the proximal-tubules (Christensen & Birn, 2002). This is followed by metabolite activation of calcidiol to 1-calcitriol in the renal mitochondria (Christensen & Birn, 2002; Rowling et al., 2006). Nykjaer et al. (2001) provided evidence that both megalin and cubilin work together to facilitate the endocytic process and that the lack of one or the other halts or considerably reduces the uptake of DBP and its ligand.

Although megalin is the primary endocytic receptor, the DBP complex binds cubilin in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner, which anchors it to the cell surface and enhances megalin-mediated endocytosis of the DBP-calcidiol-cubilin complex. Accordingly, *in vitro* studies show that inhibition of cubilin by the addition of an anti-cubilin antibody reduces DBP uptake by approximately 70%, while the addition of RAP (receptor-associated protein), which blocks all ligand-binding sites

on megalin (including those of cubilin), completely impedes DBP uptake (Nykjaer et al., 2001). Gressner et al. (2008) have shown that the inhibition of megalin by anti-megalin antibody is further intensified with EDTA, a metal ion scavenger, providing support to the Ca²⁺-dependent action of megalin-mediated endocytosis. On the other hand, Rowling et al. (2006) found that human mammary epithelial (HME) cells and T-47D breast cancer cells, both of which co-express the two receptors, are readily able to endocytose calcidiol-DBP, whereas MCF-7 breast cancer cells, in which only megalin expression was detected, are unable to internalize the DBP complex. Megalin-deficient mice and individuals with genetic mutations in cubilin have much lower plasma levels of both calcidiol and calcitriol (Nykjaer et al., 1999; Nykjaer et al., 2001).

Most of these cubilin-megalin ligands (e.g., RBP, Tf, HDL) also have other, more specific receptors. Thus, for a carrier protein such as DBP, it is possible that there are different receptors—including ones more specific than megalin and cubilin—and transport pathways in different tissues or even within the same cell type.

Subsequent to internalization of the protein carrier-ligand complex, the vitamin D receptor (VDR) pathway can become activated. This is mediated by the presence of the ligand, 1-calcitriol or calcidiol (calcidiol is converted to 1-calcitriol by CYP27B1), which induces expression of a variety of genes including the well established expression of CYP24, a VDR reporter gene (Rowling et al., 2006).



Figure 1-4 Schematic of megalin-cubilin-mediated endocytosis of DBP.

DBP binds circulating 25(OH)D3 and the calcidiol-bound complex is sequestered to the cell surface by cubilin in a Ca²⁺ dependent manner (1). Megalin then interacts with (2), binds and internalizes (3) the calcidiol-DBP-cubilin complex. Alternatively, megalin can bind directly to calcidiol-DBP. After endocytosis, CYP27B1 converts the internalized metabolite to $1,25(OH)_2D3$ (4) which then binds nuclear-VDR or caveolae-associated VDR to induce genomic or non-genomic responses, respectively (5). This figure is based on Figure 5 of Nykjaer et al. (2001).

1.3 Main hypothesis tested

The following are the main hypotheses that have been tested in relation to the above objectives:

- DBP receptors capable of mediating DBP endocytosis exist on human epidermoid A431 cells and murine hepatocytes.
- (ii) DBP endocytic transport is influenced by cell growth status and exposure to growth modulators such as epidermal growth factor (EGF).
- (iii) Gender differences exist with regard to DBP endocytosis, and these differences correlate with the effect of sex hormones on DBP endocytic transport in isolated cells.
- (iv) Membrane preparations from different mouse tissues differ in terms of total DBP binding capacity.
- (v) DBP membrane binding capacity is influenced by aging.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Chemicals and biochemical reagents

Vitamin D-binding protein (DBP) and anti-DBP IgG was obtained from Abcam (Massachusetts, U.S.). Vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol), human epidermal growth factor (EGF), Human holo-transferrin (Tf), biotinylated Tf (bTf), streptavidin-peroxidase streptavidin-HRP), peroxidase (ESa or (HRP), o-phenylenediamine dihydrochloride, biotin N-hydroxy- succinimide (BNHS), human retinol-binding protein (RBP), anti-RBP IgG, and bovine serum albumin (BSA) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Ontario, Canada). Protease inhibitor pellets were purchased from Roche. Dulbecco's modified Eagles medium (DMEM) and fetal bovine serum (FBS) were obtained from different sources: Invitrogen (Ontario, Canada), Gibco (Ontario, Canada), and Sigma-Aldrich (Ontario, Canada). Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) was obtained from Gibco (Ontario, Canada).

The ligand-enzyme conjugates (ESa-bX, X = protein ligand such as Tf or DBP or RBP) were prepared by incubating ESa with bX at a 1:1 molar ratio in PBS

for 1 h at room temperature, typical incubation conditions previously reported (Graf & Friedl, 1999; Kamemura & Kato, 1998; Shimada, Mernaugh, & Guengerich, 2005; A. Vieira, 1998; Weitz-Schmidt et al., 1996), for the formation of stable ESa-bX complexes. Preparation of b-DBP as well as other methods, chemical reagents, and equipment are detailed below in the relevant sections.

2.2 Cells, cell preparations and animals

Murine liver cells were isolated from male and female animals using a non-enzymatic, EDTA-sucrose-based method. This novel, simplified method was based on previously reported well-characterized EDTA-sucrose procedures (Kravchenko, Petrenko, Shanina, & Fuller, 2002), and is detailed in the Appendix.

The human A431 epidermoid cell line was purchased from ATCC (American Type Culture Collection) and cultured in DMEM containing 10% FBS, incubator set to 37°C, 5% CO₂. For the endocytosis experiments (section 2.3.2 below), cells were cultured in multi-well plates (Sarstedt).

For the preparation of semi-intact cell membranes (SICM), A431 cells were grown in DMEM (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS (Sigma-Aldrich) in a humidified incubator (VWR), 5% CO₂, 37°C. Cells were grown to a confluency of approximately 80-90%, and then incubated for 30 min in serum-free medium. They were then gently washed with 1ml ice-cold PBS and 1ml ice-cold KSHM (100 mM potassium acetate, 85 mM sucrose, 20 mM HEPES and 1 mM magnesium acetate). Cells were then scraped with a rubber tool and collected in

an Eppendorf tube kept on ice. One hundred to 200 µl KSHM was added twice to the plate, each time scrapping to collect any leftover cells. The Eppendorf tube (kept on ice) was centrifuged for 1 min at 12,050 *x g*, and the supernatant was removed. Subsequently, the cell pellet was resuspended in an equal volume (typically 100-200 µl) of high sucrose-KSHM (100 mM potassium acetate, 0.75 M sucrose, 20 mM HEPES and 1 mM magnesium acetate) and stored frozen at -80°C. For binding assays, equal volumes of SICM were aliquoted into tubes, each aliquot removed immediately after resuspension to ensure equal membrane amounts.

2.2.1 Animals

The animal-based work has been approved by the Simon Fraser University Animal Care Committee. For the animal injection and tissue preparation experiments, C57BL/6 middle-aged male and female mice were used, approximately 5 to 7 months of age (Charles River Laboratories, USA). The animals were injected with biotin-labelled DBP dissolved in PBS into the tail vein, 100 µL maximum injected volume. Control injection experiments without ligand (PBS solution) were also performed. Before organ/tissue dissection, the euthanized animals were perfused with physiological saline (see also Appendix).

2.3 Major Methods

2.3.1 Ligand biotinylation

Biotinylated DBP (b-DBP) was prepared by incubating biotinylation reagent, BNHS (Biotin N-hydroxysuccinimide ester; Sigma) with DBP at a molar ratio of 5:1, biotin:protein. The reagents were mixed in an Eppendorf tube, vortexed, and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. TBS was then added and the solution aliquoted and stored -80°C. A similar procedure was used for the preparation of b-RBP and b-Tf (the latter was also purchased from Sigma-Aldrich). Biotinylated proteins were detected by ELISA procedures (e.g., section 2.3.2) using streptavidin-HRP.

2.3.2 Endocytosis assays

For testing effects of different cell growth densities, cells were cultured on 6 well plates to be approximately 25%, 50% and 90% confluent on the day of the experiment. Prior to analysis of endocytosis, cells were incubated in serum-free medium (SFM) for 4 h, rinsed 2 times with PBS, and incubated with (i) ESa-b-DBP (ligand-enzyme conjugate, 4.0 µg/ml) and (ii) Esa-b-Tf (comparative control, 5 µg/ml) in PBS-SFM (a 1:1 volume mixture of PBS, and serum-free DMEM) for 10 min at 37°C. Cells were washed 2 times with ice-cold acidic buffer (25 mM acetic acid and 100 mM NaCl, pH 3), followed by neutralization with PBS, and addition of detergent solution (1% Triton X-100, 0.1% SDS in 1 mM EDTA, 50 mM NaCl and 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4) to the cells. Cell lysates were analyzed on 96-well plates

and internalization of conjugates was assessed through spectrophotometric measurements of a peroxidise(E)-catalyzed colour-generating reaction. This reaction involves 0.4 mg/ml *o*-phenylenediamine dihydrochloride (OPD) and 0.02% hydrogen peroxide in 50 mM Na₂PO₄ and 30 mM sodium citrate, pH 5. The colour reactions were terminated with 2 N sulfuric acid. Absorbance was measured at 492 nm (Statfax-2100 ELISA plate reader).

An alternative method was also used for the endocytosis assays. The biotinylated ligand, b-DBP (or b-Tf, b-RBP) was used; and ultimately endocytosed ligand was captured on anti-ligand coated wells (Section 2.3.3). The procedure was similar to that described above: cells were cultured to 25%, 50% and 90% confluencies and, after 4 h in SFM, incubated with (i) b-DBP (4.0 µg/ml) and (ii) b-Tf (comparative control, 2.5 µg/ml). After incubation, cells were again treated as above; however, cells lysates were transferred to 96-well anti-ligand antibody coated plates (e.g., anti-DBP IgG) that had been previously blocked with 0.2% BSA in PBS solution and rinsed with PBS-Tween (e.g., section 2.3.3). Lysates were then incubated on the plates for at least 16-20 h at 4°C. Lysates were then removed, and the wells blocked with BSA, rinsed with PBS-Tween and incubated with 0.001 µg/µl streptavidin-HRP (STAV-HRP) in PBS for 4 h at 37°C. Cells were then rinsed with PBS-Tween 3 times before spectrophotometric-based assessment of internalization (same as above).

For testing potential inhibitory or stimulatory activities of various factors (growth factors, hormones and other chemical compounds), the substances were added at the concentrations indicated (Section 5) either immediately before the

biotin-protein ligand or for a prolonged (typically, 30 min) incubation before addition of biotin-protein ligand. In these cases, cell growth density was approximately 50%, unless noted otherwise in the figure legends and results sections.

2.3.3 Preparation of antibody-coated plates

For preparation of antibody-coated plates, wells were coated with 200 µl of anti-DBP (4 µg/ml; or other anti-ligand antibodies at the same concentrations) in 0.05 M carbonate/bicarbonate buffer at pH 9.6 and incubated for at least 24 h at 4°C. Non-bound antibody was then removed and wells were blocked with 200 µl 0.2% BSA in PBS for at least 2 h at room temperature. After removal of the blocking solution and a rinse with PBS-Tween, wells were ready for addition of lysate.

2.3.4 Mouse tissue analysis for b-DBP

Kidney, lung, adipose, brain, and liver tissues from C57BL/6 mice injected with b-DBP, ESa-b-DBP, ESa (control), and PBS alone (control), were homogenized on ice in extraction buffer (EB: $0.5 \times PBS$ [10 mM phosphate, 75 mM NaCl, pH 7.4], 0.1% Triton X-100, 0.01% SDS and protease inhibitors) at a ratio of 2 ml EB per gram of tissue. Tissue extracts were centrifuged at 12,050 *x g* for 15 min at 4°C. The resulting supernatants from ESa or Esa-b-DBP injected tissues were removed and loaded onto a 96-well plate (Nunc), after which the colour reaction was performed. The supernatants from the b-DBP and PBS injected

tissues were loaded onto a 96-well plate (Nunc) pre-coated with 4 μ g/ml anti-DBP IgG in 50 mM sodium bicarbonate buffer (pH 9.6), and then incubated 16-20 h at 4°C. The wells were then rinsed, incubated with streptavidin-HRP, rinsed again, and the OPD colour reaction was performed as detailed in Section 2.3.2.



Analyze on anti-DBP coated wells

Figure 2-1 Flowchart of tissue accumulation analysis procedure.

Biotinylated DBP (b-DBP) is injected into the tail vein of the mouse. At the time points of 15-45 min post-injection, liver, kidney, lung and other tissues are dissected out, extracted with detergent and analyzed for b-DBP on wells coated with anti-DBP IgG.

2.3.5 Analysis of DBP binding to crude membranes prepared from tissues and A431 membranes

Tissue samples from non-injected animals, middle-aged (5-7 months) male and female mice, and young (1-2 months) and old (25-27 months) male mice, were homogenized as described above for the injected tissues. After homogenate centrifugation the supernatant was discarded and the pellet re-suspended in 2 volumes of PBS. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) was added to give a final BSA concentration of 0.02%. The resulting crude extract was divided into 3 samples of equal volume. To keep the samples as homogenous as possible, vortexing of the tube was performed before the removal of each sample volume. Then 2 μ g of biotinylated DBP (b-DBP) was added to each sample and the samples were incubated for 16-20 h at 4°C with gentle mixing. The extracts were centrifuged at 12,050 x g (Spectrafuge 16M) for 5 min at 4°C, followed by re-suspension of the pellet with a PBS solution containing 0.02% BSA. The extract was re-centrifuged, and the resulting pellet rinsed with PBS and then re-suspended with (ST) blocking buffer (pH 7.4). This final extract was plated onto a 96-well plate (Nunc) pre-coated with 4 µg/ml anti-DBP IgG (Section 2.3.3), and then incubated 16-20 h at 4°C. After rinses and streptavidin-HRP probing as above, an OPD colour reaction (see Section 2.3.2 for details) was performed to assess the captured b-DBP. Binding analyses on A431 membranes (SICM; Section 2.2) was performed using the same procedure as the one described above.

2.3.6 Analyses of DBP binding to cells

Cells were prepared as described above for the endocytosis assays (Section 2.3.2), but the ligand was added to the cells on ice and the binding incubation was performed in a 4°C environment (to prevent ligand internalization, cells and ligand were never warmed above 4°C). After incubation with ligand for 16-20 h, cells were rinsed twice with PBS-BSA as above, and a detergent solution (1% Triton X-100, 0.1% SDS in 1 mM EDTA, 50 mM NaCl and 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4) was added to lyse the cells. Lysates were then analyzed on anti-DBP-coated plates as described in section 2.3.2.

2.4 Statistics

Results are presented as the group mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) for each experimental group, unless noted otherwise. The number of measurements, *n*, is indicated in the figure legends. Two-tailed (unless noted otherwise) t-tests were performed on the data to compare a given experimental treatment with control. Two p-value levels—p<0.05 but greater than or equal to 0.01, and p<0.01—are indicated in the figure legends with * for statistical significance (alpha level, 0.05).

CHAPTER 3: RECEPTOR-MEDIATED ENDOCYTIC TRANSPORT OF DBP AND OTHER NUTRIENT CARRIER PROTEINS

3.1 Introduction

The potential mechanisms by which DBP mediates cellular uptake of vitamin D and its hydroxylated derivatives are not well defined (cf. Section 1.2.4.1). Analysis of DBP transport is of fundamental importance in terms of studying these mechanisms. Experiments have been performed in an attempt to further characterize DBP receptor-mediated endocytic transport in an epithelial line, human A431 epidermoid cells. Epithelial cells are considered to be good models for DBP transport studies (cf.(Ternes & Rowling, 2009); see also Section 5.1); and epidermal cells are known to produce biologically active vitamin D metabolites (Hall et al., 2010; Holick, Smith, & Pincus, 1987; MacLaughlin, Anderson, & Holick, 1982). Characterization of possible DBP receptors and DBP endocytosis, however, has not previously been reported for epidermal cells or for

the A431 cells. The results of my work have provided novel information about DBP and these cells. Moreover, the RME of other nutrient carrier proteins including RBP and Tf has previously been investigated using such cells (references in Section 1.2.4), and provides a valuable comparison.

Basic knowledge obtained from these studies has provided novel insight into the physiological transport of DBP. Such knowledge forms a necessary basis for studying modulation of DBP in other physiological and pathological contexts (discussed further in Section 5.1). Moreover, an understanding of DBP receptor-mediated endocytosis may be useful for DBP-mediated delivery of therapeutics to specific cells (cf. RBP-mediated delivery of therapeutics in Section 5.1).

3.2 **Results and Discussion**

A431 cells are known to express Tf and RBP receptors at the cell membrane (Castagnola, MacLeod, Sunada, Mendelsohn, & Taetle, 1987; Hopkins & Trowbridge, 1983; J. Huang & Vieira, 2006; A. Vieira, 1998; Wiley, 1988). Both the RBP and Tf receptors lead to internalization of their respective nutrient-carrier ligands in these cells; and, at least in the case of Tf, the clathrin-mediated endocytic pathway is established (J. Huang & Vieira, 2006) and references therein, (Azizi & Wahl, 1997; Hopkins & Trowbridge, 1983; Wiley, 1988). In this context, it was of interest to examine and compare receptor binding activities and the endocytic pathway(s) of DBP, another nutrient carrier protein.

A rough estimate of DBP-binding activity on A431 cells was obtained by comparing total Tf and DBP binding using two different methods: (a) binding to intact cells and (b) binding to isolated cell membrane fractions. Figure 3-1 shows that in both cases the total DBP-binding activity was greater than that of Tf in these cells, and similar results were obtained with both methods. Tf is known to have a B_{max} of 1 x 10⁵ binding sites per A431 cell. With future work to define the non-specific binding activity of DBP, and the K_d for the DBP-Receptor interaction, a B_{max} for DBP binding to these cells may be calculated. In comparison, total RBP binding in these cells is lower than that of Tf; and the RBP B_{max} has been calculated to be lower than that of Tf (Huang and Vieira, 2006).



Figure 3-1 Comparison of total Tf and DBP binding to A431 cells and membranes.

A431 cells or membrane fractions were incubated with Tf (control) or DBP ligands at 4°C (to avoid endocytosis) as described in Materials and Methods. A431 cells appear to have a significantly higher relative total binding activity when compared to Tf (asterisks, p<0.05). "Cells + Memb." represents a composite of both data sets. (n = 6; replicates = 3 for all cases)

Comparisons of total DBP binding activities in membrane preparation of various mouse tissues were also performed (non-specific binding was not measured; so only total membrane binding activity of the membrane preparations is discussed). Liver, lung, adipose, kidney and brain tissues from both male and female mice were homogenized and incubated with labelled-DBP as described in section 2.3.5 of Materials and Methods. As shown in Figure 3-2, the presence of receptors for DBP is suggested in all of the above named tissues, in agreement with previous studies (Christensen & Birn, 2002; Jones et al., 1998; Ochs-Balcom et al., 2011). Crude membrane preparations of liver tissue have the highest relative binding activity, followed by the kidney, while membrane preparations from lung and adipose tissue bind 5 to 10 times less DBP, respectively, when compared to the liver. The binding activities of all tissues are significantly different when compared to the liver (lung, adipose, brain, p<0.01; kidney, p=0.02). The liver is the primary site for DBP synthesis and secretion, and both the liver and the kidneys are key activation sites for biologically active calciferols (P. White & Cooke, 2000). If one assumes the presence of the same receptor(s) in these tissues and similar non-specific binding, the observed differences in binding activity among the tissues may relate directly to receptor abundance.

To provide a more relevant context for possible estimates of endocytic efficiency, tissue DBP accumulation data were corrected for total tissue DBP binding. Figure 3-3 suggests that DBP receptors in the kidney are significantly more efficient than in any of the other tissue. This result coincides with the kidney being the major site at which the dominant circulating metabolite gets converted to

the major active metabolite, in the pathway of vitamin D3 activation. At this point, the reason for the relative difference between b-DBP binding (Fig. 3-2) and endocytic efficiency (Fig. 3-3) in liver tissues is not clear. It may be that the liver contains a large number of DBP receptors that are not highly functional in terms of endocytosis. Indeed, the liver seems to have some unique endocytosis-related properties compared to other tissues (Keyel et al., 2006). It is also possible that the liver endocytoses more DBP compared to the kidney, but a relatively greater percentage of it is degraded or recycled in the time (~20 min) between injection and removal of tissues.



Figure 3-2 Comparison of total DBP binding capacities in crude membrane preparations from various mouse tissues

The liver, lung, kidney, adipose and brain tissues from both male and female mice were homogenized to obtain crude membrane samples and incubated with labelled-DBP at 4°C as described in Materials and Methods. Tissues from male and female animals combined (the same relative pattern of binding is observed in male and female tissues) show the liver and kidney have the highest relative DBP binding capacity, followed by the brain, lung and adipose, respectively. The binding capacities of all tissues are significantly different when compared to the liver (all tissues, p<0.01). All values are corrected for with the use of PBS controls (no b-DBP). (n = 9; replicates = 3 for each tissue for both male and female)



Figure 3-3 Comparison of accumulation to binding ratios of different mouse tissues

Accumulation data were divided by the respective binding data. Data from male and female tissues were combined (the same relative pattern of binding is observed in male and female tissues) and comparisons between tissues show that the DBP receptors in the kidney are significantly more efficient when compared to the liver (p<0.01), while DBP receptors in the brain are significantly less efficient (p=0.01). It should be noted that the adipose tissue data (not shown) have very high variability. (n = 8 for all tissues; replicates = 2 for each male and female)

In terms of the endocytic pathway taken by DBP, chemical inhibitors of two known pathways were tested as described in Materials and Methods. Chlorpromazine is an inhibitor of the clathrin-dependent pathway, that acts upon adapter protein-2 (AP-2) affecting its binding ability and thus the recycling and assembly of the clathrin coat on the plasma membrane (Bhattacharyya et al., 2010; L. H. Wang, Rothberg, & Anderson, 1993). Filipin, on the other hand, binds to cholesterol- and sphingomyelin-rich cell membrane domains (rafts) and is a known inhibitor of the caveolar (caveolin-dependent) endocytic pathway (Kang, Zhao, Lovaas, Eisenberg, & Greene, 2009; Rothberg et al., 1992). As shown in Figure 3-5, when testing the effects of these two modulators on DBP endocytosis in hepatocytes, chlorpromazine has no statistically significant effect on the amount of labelled-DBP accumulation in the cells. The addition of filipin, however, does significantly (p<0.05) decrease the amount of DBP endocytosed when compared to the control. This inhibition by filipin suggests that DBP endocytosis in hepatic cells may be caveolin-dependent. In astrocytes, megalin-mediated transport through the caveolar endocytic pathway has been reported ((Bento-Abreu et al., 2009); the megalin receptor, however, can also function through the clathrin-mediated pathway in some cell types (Fleming, Mar, Franquinho, Saraiva, & Sousa, 2009; Lambot et al., 2006). β -estradiol, a sex hormone also tested for its modulation on DBP internalization, has no significant affect on these male hepatocytes; but as presented in Chapter 5, estradiol does have a major effect on female hepatocytes.



Figure 3-4 Comparison of the effects of different endocytic modulators on DBP internalization by hepatocytes.

The relative accumulation of DBP after a 10 min endocytosis period was assessed in cells treated with chlorpromazine and filipin known inhibitors of clathrin- and caveolin-dependent endocytic pathways, respectively. When compared to the control, both inhibitors appear to affect the amount of DBP internalized. Addition of chlorpromazine increases DBP accumulation (p>0.05); filipin, however, significantly decreases (p<0.05) DBP accumulation relative to the control. The sex hormone β -estradiol causes only a non-statistically significant increase in these male hepatocytes (p>0.05). (n = 4; replicates = 2 in all cases)

CHAPTER 4: GENDER AND AGING EFFECTS ON DBP TISSUE ACCUMULATION AND MEMBRANE BINDING

4.1 Introduction

Differences in Vitamin D levels can be observed, not only with age, skin type and geographical location, but, in some cases, also with regard to gender (Hagenau et al., 2009; Smith, 2010). Whether Vitamin D serum levels are higher in males or females, however, still remains controversial. Hagenau et al. (2009) completed a meta-analysis on a multitude of studies and found that serum calcidiol levels were significantly higher in females (56 ± 1.6 nM) than in their male counterparts (50 ± 2.6 nM). In contrast, when completing a longitudinal study of individuals from Southern Italy, it was found that men had significantly higher levels of serum calcidiol in comparison to women (Carnevale et al., 2001). Studying serum calcitriol levels in a local population (Peterborough, Ontario) Smith (2010) found significant differences only between South Asian men and

women, but no difference in Caucasians. The sex differences in DBP and vitamin levels warrant further research.

In the experiments detailed below, tissue accumulation of injected b-DBP was analyzed in the tissues of male and female mice. Such tissue accumulation does not provide direct indications of RME and endocytic efficiency in the cells; but early post-injection time points may provide an estimate of such transport. Experiments directed at analyzing possible differences in DBP-binding efficiencies with gender were also performed. The combination of the binding and accumulation data may, thus, allow the estimation of endocytic efficiencies.

Aging is known to affect the efficiency of various physiological transport processes including endocytic trafficking and receptor-mediated endocytosis (RME) (Cessac, Perichon, Schaeverbeke, & Bakala, 1993; Cnop et al., 2000; Dini, Rossi, Marchese, Ruzittu, & Rotilio, 1996; Haq & Szewczuk, 1992; Ito et al., 2007; Le Couteur et al., 2008; Park et al., 2002; Park, 2002; Verbeke, Perichon, Schaeverbeke, & Bakala, 1996) and references therein). Blanpied et al. (2004) for example, have shown that aging decreases the efficiency of Tf endocytosis (CME). There is evidence for decreased rates of Tf RME in aged animals (Chen, 2009; Morgan & Moos, 2002). Possible effects of aging on RME of DBP and uptake of calciferols are not known. We were not able to obtain young and old mice to directly address this issue; however, we were able to use frozen tissues from young and old mice to prepare membrane fractions and analyze DBP binding.

4.2 Results and Discussion

In order to discuss possible gender-related differences in DBP transport to cells and tissues, a related analysis of the total DBP binding capacity of the tissues or cells is required. Differences in accumulation, for example, may not be due to differences in endocytic efficiency, but may be due instead to the relative abundance of membrane receptors (or to different DBP degradation rates). By calculating the ratios of 15-20 min accumulation to total binding, one may estimate relative endocytic efficiency (rates of uptake). This estimate requires the assumption, however, that possible differences in other biochemical events (e.g., b-DBP degradation) within the cells over this time period are negligible.

Figure 4-1 shows tissue accumulation levels between 30-45 min after injection of a HRP-streptavidin-b-DBP protein complex (stav-DBP) into the circulation of male and female mice. Tissues from the mice were collected and analysed against control tissues (injected with HRP-streptavidin only) as described in Materials and Methods. The results from the tissue analyses show that, although there does not seem to be differences in stav-DBP accumulation between male and female kidney tissues, a significant difference (p<0.05) in accumulation is found between female adipose tissue when compared to the amount of stav-DBP in male adipose. As well, there is a significant difference (p<0.05) between male and female adipose tissues when compared to male and female kidney tissues, respectively. Male liver tissues appear to accumulate less

stav-DBP than female liver tissues; this difference is statistically significant (p<0.05) only with a one-tailed t-test.

Figure 4-2 shows tissue accumulation to binding ratios between 15-20 min after injection of a biotin-labelled DBP (b-DBP) into male and female mice. Tissues from the mice were collected and analysed as described in the Materials and Methods. Similar to what was found with the stav-DBP data, the male:female ratios illustrate that receptors for DBP in liver are significantly less efficient in males than in females (p<0.05), while no significant differences in DBP endocytic efficiency are found between the other male and female tissues examined. The efficiency of DBP internalization is approximately 1.5 times higher (but p>0.05, no statistical significance) in male kidney tissues than in females. It was noted during tissue collection that many of the male mice possessed only 1 large kidney, whereas the females possessed two smaller ones. This relatively large male:female kidney ratio could be influenced by the morphological asymmetry; for example, functional overcompensation by the male kidneys may involve an increase of receptors on the cell surface or an increase in efficiency of the endocytic process.

Figure 4-3 shows cellular b-DBP and b-RBP accumulation levels after a 10 min endocytosis period in isolated male and female hepatocytes as described in the Appendix. The figure illustrates a significantly lower accumulation of b-DBP in male compared to female cells. But this is not the case for RBP. Perhaps there are gender-related differences for the two receptors or the two endocytic pathways. The significantly lower accumulation of b-DBP in male compared to female cells.

to female cells is in agreement with the accumulation data from both stav-DBP and b-DBP in male and female liver tissues (Chapter 3). One possible explanation is that female hepatocytes have a higher level, or activity, of one of the many factors that can influence endocytic efficiency.



Figure 4-1 Comparison of stav-DBP accumulation levels in male and female tissues.

The accumulation of streptavidin-DBP protein complex in both male and female liver, kidney and adipose tissues is shown after a 30-40 min post-injection time point. The amount of stav-DBP accumulation in female adipose tissue is significantly greater than in male adipose (p<0.05, asterisk). And both males and females accumulate more in adipose than in the respective kidney tissues (a, p<0.05). No significant differences are found between male and female kidney tissues. Lower accumulation in male liver tissue relative to female liver tissue is observed and is significant with a one-tailed test (p<0.05). All values were corrected for with the use of streptavidin only controls (no DBP ligand). (n = 6; replicates = 3 for all tissues)



Figure 4-2 Comparison of b-DBP tissue accumulation to binding in terms of male/female ratios.

The accumulation to binding ratios of biotin-labelled DBP (b-DBP) in male and female mice are illustrated 15-20 min post injection. No significant differences are observed in DBP endocytic efficiency between male and female lung or brain tissue. When comparing male and female liver tissues, however, endocytic efficiency of DBP is significantly lower in the former (asterisk, p<0.05). (n = 8 for all tissues; replicates = 2 for each male and female)



Figure 4-3 Comparison of two vitamin binding proteins, DBP and RBP, in terms of endocytic activity in male and female hepatocyte cells

The accumulation of biotin-labelled DBP is significantly lower in male hepatocytes compared to female hepatocytes. This effect, however, is not observed for biotin-labelled RBP in the same two cell types. (n = 6; replicates = 2 for both DBP and RBP)

In terms of aging, total DBP binding capacities were analyzed in membrane preparations from different tissues of young (~1.5 months) and old (~27 months) mice as described in Materials and Methods. Figure 4-4 shows b-DBP binding in liver, lung and kidney tissues. In all cases, there are decreases in binding capacity in old tissues relative to young. Borderline significance is achieved when comparing old and young liver tissues (p=0.058) and old and young kidney tissues (p=0.061). In addition, a significant difference is found between old kidney tissues and old liver and lung tissues (K, p<0.01) as well as between young kidney tissues and old liver and lung tissues (K, p<0.01) and between young liver and lung tissues (L, p<0.05). Although accumulation data was not obtained, the decrease in binding capacity may imply a potential decrease in b-DBP accumulation at early endocytic time points as has been observed with other nutrient carriers (Blanpied, Scott, & Ehlers, 2003; Chen, 2009; Le Couteur et al., 2008; Morgan & Moos, 2002). It has been well established that dietary requirements for vitamin D3 increase with age (Bailey et al., 2010; Llewellyn et al., 2010; Ross et al., 2011); and this relative lack of D3 may, in part, be due to inefficiency of DBP-mediated D3 uptake.


Figure 4-4 Effects of aging on tissue binding capacity of DBP.

The binding of biotinylated-DBP to membrane preparations from liver, lung and kidney tissues on young and old mice tissues is shown after an overnight incubation with the labelled nutrient carrier. Binding of b-DBP in old tissues appears to be decreased in all tissues when compared to binding in young tissue, however only borderline significance is obtained when comparing binding capacity in old and young liver (asterisk, p<0.05 for one tailed-t test only) and old and young kidney (asterisk, p<0.05 for one-tailed t-test only). A significant difference is found between old kidney tissues and old liver and lung tissues (K, p<0.01) as well as between young kidney tissues and old liver and lung tissues (K, p<0.01) and between young liver and lung tissues (L, p<0.05). (n = 4; replicates = 2 for all young and old tissues)

CHAPTER 5: MODULATION OF DBP TRANSPORT: SOME ADDITIONAL PHYSIOLOGICAL AND COMPARATIVE ASPECTS

5.1 Introduction

Modulation of nutrient transport has physiological and potential pathological consequences. Changes in such transport, for example may modulate the availability of biologically active nutrient metabolites that are critical for cell growth or differentiation. Below are some additional examples related to vitamin transport, including calciferols and DBP.

Biotin transport into cells has been related to chromatin remodelling and epigenetic effects (Zempleni, Gralla, Camporeale, & Hassan, 2009) with potential physiological and pathological consequences. Likewise, modulation of retinoid transport (vitamin A metabolites) may result in epigenetic changes (Corlazzoli, Rossetti, Bistulfi, Ren, & Sacchi, 2009), and may have consequences for the progression of Alzheimer's disease (Goodman & Pardee, 2003) and for neurological functions (Brouillette & Quirion, 2008). Also in this context, a novel therapeutic strategy for liver cirrhosis has been reported that is based on RBP and vitamin A liposomes (Sato et al., 2008), and may involve RBP endocytosis.

In the case of calciferols and DBP, there is preliminary evidence that cell differentiation is associated with increased receptor-mediated endocytosis of DBP in mammary epithelial cells, and possibly in colonic and prostate epithelial cells (Ternes & Rowling, 2009). Rapid cell proliferation is often associated with de-differentiation (e.g., in the development and progression of cancers); in this context, studies for this thesis have examined DBP endocytosis in different states of cell growth and in the presence of growth modulators such as EGF. Different responses of A431 cells in terms of cell growth and differentiation have been reported (Barnes, 1982; Gill & Lazar, 1981; Kawamoto et al., 1983; Konger & Chan, 1993; Masui, Castro, & Mendelsohn, 1993). I have compared the effects of such potential growth-modulating parameters on DBP endocytosis.

5.2 Results and Discussion

Endocytic transport of carrier proteins that bind pro-differentiative factors such as retinoids and calciferols may be decreased in situations of increased cell proliferation. Alternatively, it may be argued that cells stimulated to proliferate may attempt to increase endocytosis of such carrier proteins for pro-differentiative factors as a feedback response to try to regain control of growth. These possibilities were tested on the epidermoid A431 cells. Cell growth parameters

were modulated both by using different cell growth densities and by treatment with epidermal growth factor (EGF); EGF can be a strong stimulator of epithelial cell growth.

The data (Figures 5-1, 5-2, and 5-3) suggest modulation of DBP endocytosis by cell growth parameters. The A431 cells were grown to low (25%), medium (50%) and high (90%) cell densities, incubated with b-DBP for 10 minutes as described in Materials and Methods, and the data was subsequently analysed by standardizing against the medium cell density control. In the case of different cell confluencies, the results shown in Figure 5-1 show no statistically significant difference in the uptake of DBP. Another nutrient carrier protein, transferrin (Tf), does exhibit a significant confluency-related modulation of endocytosis (b, p<0.01) and also shows significance with regard to increased endocytosis at high cell densities when compared to endocytosis of b-DBP at high cell densities (a; p<0.01). Figure 5-2 illustrates ratios of DBP to Tf accumulation: at low cell confluencies, b-DBP accumulation is greater than that of b-Tf; but at high confluencies, b-DBP accumulation is only about half that of its comparative control (p<0.01).

Binding studies between DBP and Tf were completed using a similar procedure to that above for endocytosis, with the exception that the labelled-nutrient carrier was incubated on ice to avoid protein uptake by cells. In Figure 5-3, a significant difference is observed between binding capacities of Tf and DBP at high cell confluencies, and for binding of Tf at low and high cell confluencies. No statistically significant difference is found between b-DBP

5-3, there appears to be a corresponding relation between binding and accumulation, i.e., both higher for DBP at low density and for Tf at high density.

To provide a more relevant context for the measurement of endocytic efficiency, accumulation was corrected for binding. Figure 5-4 shows that DBP endocytosis at high growth densities appears to be similarly efficient to Tf endocytosis at high confluencies. At low cell confluencies, however, there is a significant difference between the endocytic efficiency of DBP and Tf (b, in Figure), and between Tf at low and high cell confluencies (a, in Figure): cells at low confluency endocytose Tf more efficiently than DBP, and endocytose Tf more efficiently than at higher confluencies. This result suggests Tf-specific endocytic regulation based on cell growth density, and possibly on rate of cell growth.



Figure 5-1 Relative effects of cell growth density on the accumulation of two nutrient carrier proteins, vitamin D-binding protein and transferrin.

Relative to an intermediate cell growth density (~50% confluency), cells at a low growth density (~25%, white bars) appear to be more efficient in terms of DBP endocytosis than those at high growth density (>90%, black bars); this difference, however, is not statistically significant (p=0.18). For Tf, a statistically significant difference between the two densities is observed, **b**, p<0.01. A statistically significant difference between DBP and Tf endocytosis at high growth densities is observed, **a**, p<0.01. (n = 20; replicates = 9 for all cases)



Figure 5-2 Comparison of the accumulation efficiency of DBP and Tf.

The relative accumulation of DBP to Tf is shown after a 10 min endocytosis period. The accumulation of DBP in A431 cells at low growth (25%, white bars) densities is similar to that of Tf; but at high growth (>90%, black bars) densities DBP accumulation is only about half as efficient as Tf accumulation (p<0.01). (n = 20; replicates = 9 for both DBP and Tf).



Figure 5-3 Relative effects of cell growth density on the membrane binding of two nutrient carrier proteins, vitamin D-binding protein and transferrin.

Relative to an intermediate cell growth density (~50% confluency), cells at a low growth density (~25%, white bars) appear to have a similar (difference is not statistically significant) binding capacity for DBP when compared to a high growth density (>90%, black bars). However, low confluency cells seem to have a lower binding capacity for Tf. A significant difference is observed between binding of Tf between low and high cell confluencies (a) and for binding capacities of Tf and DBP at high cell confluencies (b). (n = 6; replicates = 3 for all cases)





Relative to an intermediate cell growth density (~50% confluency), cells at a low growth density (~25%) endocytose significantly (b; p<0.05) more Tf than DBP. In addition, significantly (a; p<0.05) more Tf is endocytosed at lower confluencies than at higher confluencies (~90%). Both nutrient carriers seem to be similarly efficient at higher cell growth densities. (n=20; replicates = 9 for all cases)

In terms of the effects on DBP endocytosis caused by EGF treatment of cells (A431), there does seem to be modulation of DBP transport by this growth factor. Cells grown to 50% and 90% confluencies were incubated with 5 nM EGF for 30 min prior to DBP endocytosis as described in Materials and Methods. When looking solely at accumulation (Figure 5-5), the presence of this growth factor does not appear to provide a statistically significant stimulation of DBP transport at either low or high cell growth densities.

DBP binding studies under treatment of EGF were also performed. DBP binding studies were completed using a similar procedure to that for endocytosis above, with the exception that after EGF treatment, the labelled-nutrient carrier was incubated on ice to avoid protein uptake. Figure 5-6 illustrates that DBP binding capacity is similar with or without EGF treatment at the two cell growth densities.

When DBP endocytosis is standardized for DBP binding (Figure 5-7), EGF treatment at different cell growth densities does seem to affect the efficiency of DBP transport. A significantly higher standardized uptake of DBP is found with EGF treatment at lower cell growth densities compared to higher densities. These data suggest that cells at different growth densities react differently to EGF treatment. At low growth densities EGF treatment may induce A431 cells to increase their uptake of DBP (and other prodifferentiative factors) as a counter-regulatory mechanism to try to maintain control of cell growth in the presence of the proliferative factor. In this context, A431 cells have been found to

increase caveolar endocytosis activity in response to EGF (Orlichenko et al., 2009) and references therein).

In order to test if 5 nM of EGF enhances metabolic activity within this 30 min treatment period, MTT [3-(4,5-dimethyldiazol-2-yl)-2,5 diphenyl tetrazolium bromide] tests with and without EGF treatment were performed. Enhanced metabolic activity typically coincides with proliferative potential (Bauer, Hatzivassiliou, Zhao, Andreadis, & Thompson, 2005; Fritz & Fajas, 2010; Vander Heiden, Cantley, & Thompson, 2009) (L. Yang, Liang, Yao, Chen, & Hou, 2005). Figure 5-8 illustrates that cells at high (90%) cell densities show a small, but statistically significant, acute increase in their metabolic activity with EGF treatment (p=0.05). If one uses metabolic activity as an indicator of proliferative potential, these results suggest that acute treatment with EGF may activate some proliferative pathways in A431 cells, especially at higher confluencies. The relative decrease in DBP endocytosis, and hence the decrease in endocytosis of its pro-differentiative ligands, observed in cells at high confluency (Figure 5-7), correlates with the increase in metabolic activity seen in response to EGF treatment (Figure 5-8). Thus, I suggest that at relatively low growth densities (e.g., 50%), EGF stimulates endocytosis, and the correlation with relatively lower MTT conversion may be a result of the increased uptake of pro-differentiative factors such as DBP (vitamin D) that help control the extent of increases in cellular metabolic activity or growth potential; such an EGF-dependent stimulation in endocytosis may not occur at high growth densities (e.g., 90%).

Acute metabolic responses to 5 nM of EGF treatment seem to differ from those of longer-term treatments. Data from A431 cells incubated with EGF for 48 h at both low and high cell densities show decreases in MTT conversion relative to untreated cells (Figure 5-9; statistically significant when using a one-tailed t-test; low cell confluency, p=0.05 and high confluency, p=0.03). One possibility is that short term treatment with EGF may act as a growth modulator that increases proliferation, but that prolonged exposure allows for a variety of sequential cellular changes that may result in inhibition of proliferation, and potentially apoptosis. Some studies have found that nanomolar concentrations of EGF can inhibit proliferation in A431 cells (Barnes, 1982; Gill & Lazar, 1981; Masui et al., 1993); but the potential contribution of apoptosis to these results is not known. Another possibility is that over the longer term, i.e. 48 h, the EGF treatment decreases the number of mitochondria—a major location of MTT conversion—especially in the higher growth density conditions.



Figure 5-5 Effects of epidermal growth factor on cellular DBP accumulation at two different cell growth confluencies.

A431 cells in serum-free medium, at 50% (white bar) and 90% (black bar) plate confluency, were incubated with 5 nM EGF for 30 min prior to assessing endocytosis by incubating the cells with DBP for 10 min at 37°C. The EGF treatment does not result in a statistically significant difference between the two cell growth densities. (n = 6; replicates = 3 for both densities)



Figure 5-6 Effects of epidermal growth factor on DBP binding at two different cell growth densities.

A431 cells in serum-free medium, at 50% (white bar) and 90% (black bar) plate confluency, were incubated with 5 nM EGF for 30 min prior to assessing DBP binding capacity by incubating the cells with DBP for 10 min on ice. EGF treatment does not appear to significantly affect DBP binding capacity at either cell density. (n = 6; replicates = 3 for both densities)



Figure 5-7 Effects of epidermal growth factor on DBP endocytosis corrected for binding.

A431 cells at a 50% (white bar) cell growth density exposed to 5nM of EGF for 30 min endocytose significantly more DBP than at a 90% (black bar) cell growth density (p<0.05). (n=6; replicates = 3 for both densities)



Figure 5-8 Metabolic effects of 30 minute EGF treatment at two different cell growth densities

Cells at both low (50%) and high (90%) cell growth density underwent a 30 min treatment with EGF. Cells at high growth confluency show a small, but statistically significant increase in metabolic activity in comparison to the control (p=0.05). (90% (and 90% controls) n = 14; 50% (and 50% CONTROLS) n = 12; replicates = 2 for both cases).



Figure 5-9 Metabolic effects of 48 hour EGF treatment at two different cell growth densities

Cells at 50% and 90% cell growth density underwent a 48 h treatment with EGF. Cells at both confluencies show decreases in metabolic activity in comparison to the control (statistically significant when using a one-tailed t-test; low cell confluency, p=0.05 and high confluency, p=0.03). The difference between the two growth densities is not statistically significant (p=0.4). (90% n = 10, 50% n = 8, (50 and 90%) controls n = 5; replicates = 2)

In the context of gender-related modulators of DBP endocytosis discussed in Chapter 3, I analyzed the effects of estradiol treatment on DBP endocytosis in hepatocytes. Estradiol is a sex hormone and is the predominant estrogen found in premenopausal females (small quantities can be present in males as a testosterone metabolite). As shown previously in Figure 3-4, this sex steroid does not stimulate DBP endocytosis in male hepatocytes. As shown now in Figure 5-10, however, female hepatocytes do exhibit a significantly strong estradiol-dependent increase in DBP endocytosis. There has been previous evidence of estradiol related increases in endocytic uptake of various factors, specifically in females (Handley, Arbeeny, & Chien, 1983; Morris, Potter, & Gaza-Bulseco, 1988; L. Yang et al., 2005). I suggest that estradiol increases the efficiency of DBP RME in female cells. Perhaps this steroid hormone activates one or more components of the endocytic machinery that are more abundant in female cells, or activates a female cell-specific signalling pathway that increases endocytic activity.



Figure 5-10 Effects of estradiol on DBP endocytosis in male and female hepatocytes.

Male and female hepatocytes were treated with estradiol for 30 min prior to analysis of DBP endocytosis. Treatment with estradiol significantly increases DBP endocytosis in female hepatic cells when compared to the control (no treatment). No significant differences in DBP internalization are found in male hepatocytes with or without estradiol exposure. (n = 4; replicates = 2 for both male and female)

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

6.1 Conclusions

The following list encompasses the major conclusions found from the experiments completed as part of this M.Sc thesis project:

- (i) Functional receptors exist on the surface of human A431 cells and liver, lung, kidney, adipose and brain tissues in mice.
- (ii) DBP-binding activity is higher in both intact A431 cells and cell membrane fractions when compared to Tf.
- (iii) Male liver cells have a decreased DBP endocytic capacity relative to female liver cells, perhaps because female hepatocytes have a higher level or activity of one of the many factors that can influence endocytic efficiency.
- (iv) Filipin, a known inhibitor of the caveolin-mediated endocytic pathway, significantly decreases the amount of DBP endocytosed in hepatocytes, which suggests a caveolar endocytic pathway is employed by these cells.

- (v) Endocytic transport of DBP and Tf may be influenced by cell growth status.
- (vi) A431 cells at low cell density (50%) increase their transport of DBP (and its pro-differentiative ligands) with acute (30 min) EGF treatment, which may result as a counter-regulatory response to the presence of this growth factor (assuming EGF has a proliferative effect on cells at low density). Acute EGF treatment significantly decreases DBP transport at high cell densities (90%), in comparison.
- (vii) A431 cells grown at high cell densities (90%) show metabolic stimulation with acute (30 min) EGF treatment. Using metabolic stimulation as an indicator of proliferation potential, this stimulation in metabolism and likely proliferation, may be due to the decreased uptake of DBP (and its pro-differentiative ligands) that occurs with this short term EGF treatment.
- (viii) Long term EGF treatment (48 h) decreases metabolic activity in cells at both low and high density (50% and 90%, respectively). This may be due to cellular changes that occur with prolonged EGF exposure that may lead to inhibition of proliferation and eventually apoptosis.
- (ix) Liver and kidney tissues of old mice have decreased binding activity when compared to tissues of young mice, which is consistent with the age effects of other nutrient carriers such as RBP and Tf.
- (x) Estradiol significantly increases DBP endocytosis in female hepatocyte cells (compared to control and to male hepatocyte cells), which suggests

that this estrogen may stimulate (DBP) RME in female cells, as has been seen with other nutrient carriers.

6.2 Future directions

To expound on the research completed above, the following are future directions that would be most pertinent to explore:

- Characterize the potential DBP-specific receptor in terms of its (i) identification (amino acid sequence), (ii) size, and (iii) presence in various cells and tissues.
- Further characterize DBP endocytosis in terms of (i) other putative endocytic pathways of DBP with the use of pathway inhibitors, and (ii) whether its endocytosis is ligand-dependent.
- Further establish the (proliferative) effects of EGF on A431 cells by completing cell-counting assays and assays to assess the extent of apoptosis after prolonged exposure.
- Further establish age-related effects on DBP accumulation and endocytic efficiency in tissues.
- Given its effects on increasing DBP uptake in females, explore estradiol as a potential therapy for the treatment of osteoporosis in post-menopausal females.

APPENDIX: NOVEL MURINE HEPATOCYTE PREPARATION METHOD

Isolated animal liver cells have been used in a wide range of biochemical experiments from hepatic function to basic process of cell biology. Typically, the isolation process involves treatment of the livers with collagenase or other proteases. These enzymes, however, can digest cell surface proteins and change membrane-related cell functions. Such cells cannot be used in assays that test or rely upon some of these functions, e.g., receptor-mediated endocytosis (RME). Non enzymatic methods have been reported, and most of these are based on the use of chelators such as EDTA (Kravchenko et al., 2002 and references therein). We have developed a simplified EDTA-sucrose-based method that does not require motorized mechanical disruption. The method was applied for the preparation of mouse liver cells, and yields functional cells, ready to be used without the need for typical multi-day culture.

The following is the liver isolation procedure that we used. After perfusion of the whole circulatory system with 30 ml of physiological saline, the gall bladder is extracted, and the liver is removed and perfused with 2 ml of PBS followed by 2 ml of EDTA-sucrose (ES) solution (250 mM Sucrose and 4 mM EDTA; Kravchenko et al., 2002). The latter perfusions of the isolated liver can be performed while holding it with forceps and injecting the solution slowly at multiple sites in the different lobes; the perfusate drips out of the liver and is discarded.

In a Petri dish containing 2 ml of ES, the liver is torn into the smallest possible pieces using a pulling motion with 2 forceps over a 3 min period. The pieces are left to incubate in the ES solution for a further 5 min. The contents of the Petri dish are then gently passed 5 times through a 5-ml syringe (no needle), 5 times through a 1-ml pipette tip with 8 mm of tip cut off, 5 times through a 1-ml pipette tip with 4 mm of tip cut off, and transferred into collection tubes (1.5 ml Eppendorf). This initial cell suspension is then briefly centrifuged at low g-force (10 s, 50 x g) to remove tissue debris. The supernatant is transferred to new tubes, gently passed once through an 18 gauge needle, 3 times through a 23 gauge needle, subsequently centrifuged at 50 x g for 3.5 min to pellet the cells.

The cell pellets are gently resuspended in 1 ml of complete cell culture medium (DMEM-FBS) and re-centrifuged, 100 x g for 3 min. The supernatant is discarded and the pellet is gently resuspended in about 2 volumes of PBS-BSA-SFM (1 volume [phosphate-buffered saline, pH 7.4, containing 1% w/v bovine serum albumin] mixed with 1 volume [serum-free cell culture medium, DMEM]), and kept at room temperature for at least 1 h (less than 4 h) before being used for experiments. Resuspended pellets from multiple tubes can be combined into 1 or 2 tubes. The total volume of the cell suspension can be measured at this point, and a small sample of cells removed for trypan blue exclusion (viability) test and cell counting. If desired, some of the cells can also be frozen (in typical high serum-DMSO solutions) and stored in liquid nitrogen for future use.

The simple, rapid EDTA-based method presented here typically yields 15-30 million cells from an adult mouse liver. Cell viability estimated by trypan blue dye

exclusion is very high, typically above 98%. Figure A-1 shows a light microscope picture of typical isolated cells. We employed these cells for endocytic transport assays and found them to be highly active. Moreover, cells prepared by similar EDTA-based methods have previously been reported to have the same or higher activity in terms of energy metabolism (Kravchenko et al., 2002 and references therein).



Figure A-1 Murine hepatocytes prepared by the simplified EDTA-sucrose method.

Examples of low (right) and high (left) power magnification photographs are shown of hepatocytes prepared by the novel EDTA-sucrose method outlined in this Appendix.

REFERENCE LIST

- Abe, N., Inoue, T., Galvez, T., Klein, L., & Meyer, T. (2008). Dissecting the role of PtdIns(4,5)P2 in endocytosis and recycling of the transferrin receptor. *Journal of Cell Science*, *121*(Pt 9), 1488-1494. doi:10.1242/jcs.020792
- Aisen, P. (2004). Transferrin receptor 1. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, *36*(11), 2137-2143. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2004.02.007
- Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., & Walter, P. (Eds.). (2002). *Molecular biology of the cell* (4th Edition ed.). New York and London: Garland Science.
- Alvarez-Dolado, M., Gonzalez-Sancho, J. M., Navarro-Yubero, C., Garcia-Fernandez, L. F., & Munoz, A. (1999). Retinoic acid and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibit tenascin-C expression in rat glioma C6 cells. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 58(2), 293-300.
- Avioli, L. V. (1969). Absorption and metabolism of vitamin D3 in man. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 22(4), 437-446.
- Azizi, F., & Wahl, P. (1997). Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) of a fluorescent transferrin internalized in the late transferrin endocytic compartment of living A431 cells: Experiments. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta, 13*27(1), 75-88.
- Bailey, R. L., Dodd, K. W., Goldman, J. A., Gahche, J. J., Dwyer, J. T., Moshfegh, A. J., . .
 Picciano, M. F. (2010). Estimation of total usual calcium and vitamin D intakes in the united states. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *140*(4), 817-822. doi:10.3945/jn.109.118539
- Barnes, D. W. (1982). Epidermal growth factor inhibits growth of A431 human epidermoid carcinoma in serum-free cell culture. *The Journal of Cell Biology, 93*(1), 1-4.
- Bashkirov, P. V., Akimov, S. A., Evseev, A. I., Schmid, S. L., Zimmerberg, J., & Frolov, V. A. (2008). GTPase cycle of dynamin is coupled to membrane squeeze and release, leading to spontaneous fission. *Cell*, *135*(7), 1276-1286. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.11.028
- Bauer, D. E., Hatzivassiliou, G., Zhao, F., Andreadis, C., & Thompson, C. B. (2005). ATP citrate lyase is an important component of cell growth and transformation. *Oncogene*, 24(41), 6314-6322. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208773
- Beck, K. A., & Keen, J. H. (1991). Interaction of phosphoinositide cycle intermediates with the plasma membrane-associated clathrin assembly protein AP-2. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(7), 4442-4447.
- Bento-Abreu, A., Velasco, A., Polo-Hernandez, E., Lillo, C., Kozyraki, R., Tabernero, A., & Medina, J. M. (2009). Albumin endocytosis via megalin in astrocytes is caveola- and dab-1 dependent and is required for the synthesis of the neurotrophic factor oleic acid. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *111*(1), 49-60. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06304.x

- Bernadotte, F., Holmdahl, R., Juhlin, C., & Mattsson, R. (1989). Expression of a cell surface antigen with potential Ca2+-sensor/receptor function in rat placenta and uterus. *Journal of Reproductive Immunology, 16*(2), 199-205.
- Bhalla, A. K., Amento, E. P., & Krane, S. M. (1986). Differential effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on human lymphocytes and monocyte/macrophages: Inhibition of interleukin-2 and augmentation of interleukin-1 production. *Cellular Immunology*, 98(2), 311-322.
- Bhatia, M., Kirkland, J. B., & Meckling-Gill, K. A. (1995). Monocytic differentiation of acute promyelocytic leukemia cells in response to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 is independent of nuclear receptor binding. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(27), 15962-15965.
- Bhattacharyya, S., Warfield, K. L., Ruthel, G., Bavari, S., Aman, M. J., & Hope, T. J. (2010). Ebola virus uses clathrin-mediated endocytosis as an entry pathway. *Virology*, 401(1), 18-28. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2010.02.015
- Bikle, D. D., Gee, E., Halloran, B., Kowalski, M. A., Ryzen, E., & Haddad, J. G. (1986). Assessment of the free fraction of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in serum and its regulation by albumin and the vitamin D-binding protein. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 63*(4), 954-959.
- Birn, H., Verroust, P. J., Nexo, E., Hager, H., Jacobsen, C., Christensen, E. I., & Moestrup, S. K. (1997). Characterization of an epithelial approximately 460-kDa protein that facilitates endocytosis of intrinsic factor-vitamin B12 and binds receptor-associated protein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(42), 26497-26504.
- Bischoff-Ferrari, H. A., Dietrich, T., Orav, E. J., & Dawson-Hughes, B. (2004). Positive association between 25-hydroxy vitamin D levels and bone mineral density: A population-based study of younger and older adults. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *116*(9), 634-639. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2003.12.029
- Bissonnette, M., Tien, X. Y., Niedziela, S. M., Hartmann, S. C., Frawley, B. P., Jr, Roy, H. K., . . . Brasitus, T. A. (1994). 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 activates PKC-alpha in caco-2 cells: A mechanism to limit secosteroid-induced rise in [Ca2+]i. *The American Journal of Physiology, 267*(3 Pt 1), G465-75.
- Blaner, W. S. (2007). STRA6, a cell-surface receptor for retinol-binding protein: The plot thickens. *Cell Metabolism*, *5*(3), 164-166. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2007.02.006
- Blanpied, T. A., Scott, D. B., & Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Age-related regulation of dendritic endocytosis associated with altered clathrin dynamics. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 24(8), 1095-1104.
- Blutt, S. E., McDonnell, T. J., Polek, T. C., & Weigel, N. L. (2000). Calcitriol-induced apoptosis in LNCaP cells is blocked by overexpression of bcl-2. *Endocrinology*, *141*(1), 10-17.

- Bok, D., & Heller, J. (1976). Transport of retinol from the blood to the retina: An autoradiographic study of the pigment epithelial cell surface receptor for plasma retinol-binding protein. *Experimental Eye Research*, *22*(5), 395-402.
- Bourdeau, A., Atmani, F., Grosse, B., & Lieberherr, M. (1990). Rapid effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and extracellular Ca2+ on phospholipid metabolism in dispersed porcine parathyroid cells. *Endocrinology*, 127(6), 2738-2743.
- Boyan, B. D., Sylvia, V. L., Curry, D., Chang, Z., Dean, D. D., & Schwartz, Z. (1998). Arachidonic acid is an autocoid mediator of the differential action of 1,25-(OH)2D3 and 24,25-(OH)2D3 on growth plate chondrocytes. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, *176*(3), 516-524. doi:2-R
- Brewer, L. D., Thibault, V., Chen, K. C., Langub, M. C., Landfield, P. W., & Porter, N. M. (2001). Vitamin D hormone confers neuroprotection in parallel with downregulation of L-type calcium channel expression in hippocampal neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 21*(1), 98-108.
- Brouillette, J., & Quirion, R. (2008). Transthyretin: A key gene involved in the maintenance of memory capacities during aging. *Neurobiology of Aging, 29*(11), 1721-1732. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.04.007
- Burnside, J., & Sofer, L. (1999). *VTDB-chicken:Vitamin D binding protein precursor.* Unpublished manuscript.
- Calvo, M. S., Whiting, S. J., & Barton, C. N. (2004). Vitamin D fortification in the united states and canada: Current status and data needs. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 80*(6 Suppl), 1710S-6S.
- Cantorna, M. T. (2000). Vitamin D and autoimmunity: Is vitamin D status an environmental factor affecting autoimmune disease prevalence? *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine.Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, N.Y.), 223*(3), 230-233.
- Carnevale, V., Modoni, S., Pileri, M., Di Giorgio, A., Chiodini, I., Minisola, S., . . . Scillitani, A. (2001). Longitudinal evaluation of vitamin D status in healthy subjects from southern italy: Seasonal and gender differences. Osteoporosis International : A Journal Established as Result of Cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, 12(12), 1026-1030.
- Castagnola, J., MacLeod, C., Sunada, H., Mendelsohn, J., & Taetle, R. (1987). Effects of epidermal growth factor on transferrin receptor phosphorylation and surface expression in malignant epithelial cells. *Journal of Cellular Physiology, 132*(3), 492-500. doi:10.1002/jcp.1041320311
- Cessac, A. L., Perichon, M., Schaeverbeke, J., & Bakala, H. (1993). Age-related changes in albumin binding by renal brush-border membrane vesicles. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 70*(1-2), 139-148.

- Chatelet, F., Brianti, E., Ronco, P., Roland, J., & Verroust, P. (1986a). Ultrastructural localization by monoclonal antibodies of brush border antigens expressed by glomeruli. I. renal distribution. *The American Journal of Pathology, 122*(3), 500-511.
- Chatelet, F., Brianti, E., Ronco, P., Roland, J., & Verroust, P. (1986b). Ultrastructural localization by monoclonal antibodies of brush border antigens expressed by glomeruli. II. extrarenal distribution. *The American Journal of Pathology, 122*(3), 512-519.
- Chen, J. (2009). *Physiological mechanisms of nutrient transport: Vitamin A and retinol-binding protein.* (Unpublished M.Sc.). Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC.
- Christensen, E. I., & Birn, H. (2002). Megalin and cubilin: Multifunctional endocytic receptors. *Nature Reviews.Molecular Cell Biology, 3*(4), 256-266. doi:10.1038/nrm778
- Christensen, E. I., Gliemann, J., & Moestrup, S. K. (1992). Renal tubule gp330 is a calcium binding receptor for endocytic uptake of protein. *The Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry : Official Journal of the Histochemistry Society, 40*(10), 1481-1490.
- Christensen, E. I., Moskaug, J. O., Vorum, H., Jacobsen, C., Gundersen, T. E., Nykjaer, A., . . . Moestrup, S. K. (1999). Evidence for an essential role of megalin in transpithelial transport of retinol. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*, *10*(4), 685-695.
- Cnop, M., Grupping, A., Hoorens, A., Bouwens, L., Pipeleers-Marichal, M., & Pipeleers, D. (2000). Endocytosis of low-density lipoprotein by human pancreatic beta cells and uptake in lipid-storing vesicles, which increase with age. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 156(1), 237-244.
- Colston, K., Colston, M. J., & Feldman, D. (1981). 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and malignant melanoma: The presence of receptors and inhibition of cell growth in culture. *Endocrinology*, *108*(3), 1083-1086.
- Conner, S. D., & Schmid, S. L. (2003). Regulated portals of entry into the cell. *Nature*, 422(6927), 37-44. doi:10.1038/nature01451
- Cooke, N. E. (1986). Rat vitamin D binding protein. determination of the full-length primary structure from cloned cDNA. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 261(7), 3441-3450.
- Cooke, N. E., & David, E. V. (1985). Serum vitamin D-binding protein is a third member of the albumin and alpha fetoprotein gene family. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 76(6), 2420-2424. doi:10.1172/JCI112256
- Coppenhaver, D., Kueppers, F., Schidlow, D., Bee, D., Isenburg, J. N., Barnett, D. R., & Bowman, B. H. (1981). Serum concentrations of vitamin D-binding protein (group-specific component) in cystic fibrosis. *Human Genetics*, *57*(4), 399-403.
- Corey, M., McLaughlin, F. J., Williams, M., & Levison, H. (1988). A comparison of survival, growth, and pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis in boston and toronto. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 41*(6), 583-591.

- Corlazzoli, F., Rossetti, S., Bistulfi, G., Ren, M., & Sacchi, N. (2009). Derangement of a factor upstream of RARalpha triggers the repression of a pleiotropic epigenetic network. *PloS One, 4*(1), e4305. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004305
- Creek, K. E., Silverman-Jones, C. S., & De Luca, L. M. (1989). Comparison of the uptake and metabolism of retinol delivered to primary mouse keratinocytes either free or bound to rat serum retinol-binding protein. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 92(2), 283-289.
- Cui, S., Verroust, P. J., Moestrup, S. K., & Christensen, E. I. (1996). Megalin/gp330 mediates uptake of albumin in renal proximal tubule. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 271(4 Pt 2), F900-7.
- Daniels, T. R., Delgado, T., Rodriguez, J. A., Helguera, G., & Penichet, M. L. (2006). The transferrin receptor part I: Biology and targeting with cytotoxic antibodies for the treatment of cancer. *Clinical Immunology (Orlando, Fla.), 121*(2), 144-158. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2006.06.010
- de Boland, A. R., & Norman, A. W. (1998). 1alpha,25(OH)2-vitamin D3 signaling in chick enterocytes: Enhancement of tyrosine phosphorylation and rapid stimulation of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 69*(4), 470-482.
- DiMartino, S. J., & Kew, R. R. (1999). Initial characterization of the vitamin D binding protein (gc-globulin) binding site on the neutrophil plasma membrane: Evidence for a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)*, 163(4), 2135-2142.
- Dini, L., Rossi, L., Marchese, E., Ruzittu, M. T., & Rotilio, G. (1996). Age-related changes in the binding and uptake of cu, zn superoxide dismutase in rat liver cells. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 90*(1), 21-33.
- Doherty, G. J., & McMahon, H. T. (2009). Mechanisms of endocytosis. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 78, 857-902. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.78.081307.110540
- Dringen, R., Gutterer, J. M., & Hirrlinger, J. (2000). Glutathione metabolism in brain metabolic interaction between astrocytes and neurons in the defense against reactive oxygen species. *European Journal of Biochemistry / FEBS, 267*(16), 4912-4916.
- Dueland, S., Helgerud, P., Pedersen, J. I., Berg, T., & Drevon, C. A. (1983). Plasma clearance, transfer, and distribution of vitamin D3 from intestinal lymph. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 245(4), E326-31.
- Dueland, S., Pedersen, J. I., Helgerud, P., & Drevon, C. A. (1983). Absorption, distribution, and transport of vitamin D3 and 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 in the rat. *The American Journal of Physiology, 245*(5 Pt 1), E463-7.

- Edeling, M. A., Smith, C., & Owen, D. (2006). Life of a clathrin coat: Insights from clathrin and AP structures. *Nature Reviews.Molecular Cell Biology*, 7(1), 32-44. doi:10.1038/nrm1786
- Eikelenboom, M. J., Killestein, J., Kragt, J. J., Uitdehaag, B. M., & Polman, C. H. (2009). Gender differences in multiple sclerosis: Cytokines and vitamin D. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 286(1-2), 40-42. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2009.06.025
- Ena, J. M., Esteban, C., Perez, M. D., Uriel, J., & Calvo, M. (1989). Fatty acids bound to vitamin D-binding protein (DBP) from human and bovine sera. *Biochemistry International, 19*(1), 1-7.
- Fleming, C. E., Mar, F. M., Franquinho, F., Saraiva, M. J., & Sousa, M. M. (2009). Transthyretin internalization by sensory neurons is megalin mediated and necessary for its neuritogenic activity. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 29*(10), 3220-3232. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6012-08.2009
- Ford, M. G., Mills, I. G., Peter, B. J., Vallis, Y., Praefcke, G. J., Evans, P. R., & McMahon, H. T. (2002). Curvature of clathrin-coated pits driven by epsin. *Nature*, 419(6905), 361-366. doi:10.1038/nature01020
- Ford, M. G., Pearse, B. M., Higgins, M. K., Vallis, Y., Owen, D. J., Gibson, A., . . . McMahon, H. T. (2001). Simultaneous binding of PtdIns(4,5)P2 and clathrin by AP180 in the nucleation of clathrin lattices on membranes. *Science (New York, N.Y.),* 291(5506), 1051-1055. doi:10.1126/science.291.5506.1051
- Fortuna, V. A., Martucci, R. B., Trugo, L. C., & Borojevic, R. (2003). Hepatic stellate cells uptake of retinol associated with retinol-binding protein or with bovine serum albumin. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, *90*(4), 792-805. doi:10.1002/jcb.10703
- Fritsche, J., Mondal, K., Ehrnsperger, A., Andreesen, R., & Kreutz, M. (2003). Regulation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1 alpha-hydroxylase and production of 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 by human dendritic cells. *Blood, 102*(9), 3314-3316. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-11-3521
- Fritz, V., & Fajas, L. (2010). Metabolism and proliferation share common regulatory pathways in cancer cells. *Oncogene, 29*(31), 4369-4377. doi:10.1038/onc.2010.182
- Furman, I., Baudet, C., & Brachet, P. (1996). Differential expression of M-CSF, LIF, and TNF-alpha genes in normal and malignant rat glial cells: Regulation by lipopolysaccharide and vitamin D. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *46*(3), 360-366. doi:2-I
- Galli, T., & Haucke, V. (2004). Cycling of synaptic vesicles: How far? how fast! *Science's STKE : Signal Transduction Knowledge Environment, 2004*(264), re19. doi:10.1126/stke.2642004re19
- Garcion, E., Nataf, S., Berod, A., Darcy, F., & Brachet, P. (1997). 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in rat central nervous

system during experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Brain Research.Molecular Brain Research*, *45*(2), 255-267.

- Garcion, E., Sindji, L., Leblondel, G., Brachet, P., & Darcy, F. (1999). 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulates the synthesis of gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase and glutathione levels in rat primary astrocytes. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 73(2), 859-866.
- Garcion, E., Sindji, L., Montero-Menei, C., Andre, C., Brachet, P., & Darcy, F. (1998). Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase during rat brain inflammation: Regulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. *Glia*, 22(3), 282-294.
- Garcion, E., Wion-Barbot, N., Montero-Menei, C. N., Berger, F., & Wion, D. (2002). New clues about vitamin D functions in the nervous system. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism: TEM, 13*(3), 100-105.
- Garland, C. F., Comstock, G. W., Garland, F. C., Helsing, K. J., Shaw, E. K., & Gorham, E. D. (1989). Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and colon cancer: Eight-year prospective study. *Lancet*, 2(8673), 1176-1178.
- Garland, C. F., & Garland, F. C. (1980). Do sunlight and vitamin D reduce the likelihood of colon cancer? *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *9*(3), 227-231.
- Garland, F. C., Garland, C. F., Gorham, E. D., & Young, J. F. (1990). Geographic variation in breast cancer mortality in the united states: A hypothesis involving exposure to solar radiation. *Preventive Medicine*, *19*(6), 614-622.
- Gill, G. N., & Lazar, C. S. (1981). Increased phosphotyrosine content and inhibition of proliferation in EGF-treated A431 cells. *Nature*, 293(5830), 305-307.
- Gniadecki, R. (1996). Activation of raf-mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in normal human keratinocytes. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 106*(6), 1212-1217.
- Gniadecki, R. (1998). Involvement of src in the vitamin D signaling in human keratinocytes. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *55*(4), 499-503.
- Golzio, C., Martinovic-Bouriel, J., Thomas, S., Mougou-Zrelli, S., Grattagliano-Bessieres,
 B., Bonniere, M., . . . Etchevers, H. C. (2007). Matthew-wood syndrome is caused by truncating mutations in the retinol-binding protein receptor gene STRA6. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *80*(6), 1179-1187. doi:10.1086/518177
- Gonzalez-Gaitan, M., & Jackle, H. (1997). Role of drosophila alpha-adaptin in presynaptic vesicle recycling. *Cell*, *88*(6), 767-776.
- Goodman, A. B., & Pardee, A. B. (2003). Evidence for defective retinoid transport and function in late onset alzheimer's disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(5), 2901-2905. doi:10.1073/pnas.0437937100

- Graf, R., & Friedl, P. (1999). Detection of immobilized proteins on nitrocellulose membranes using a biotinylation-dependent system. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 273(2), 291-297. doi:10.1006/abio.1999.4237
- Grant, W. B. (2003). Ecologic studies of solar UV-B radiation and cancer mortality rates. Recent Results in Cancer Research.Fortschritte Der Krebsforschung.Progres Dans Les Recherches Sur Le Cancer, 164, 371-377.
- Gressner, O. A., Lahme, B., & Gressner, A. M. (2008). Gc-globulin (vitamin D binding protein) is synthesized and secreted by hepatocytes and internalized by hepatic stellate cells through ca(2+)-dependent interaction with the megalin/gp330 receptor. *Clinica Chimica Acta; International Journal of Clinical Chemistry, 390*(1-2), 28-37. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2007.12.011
- Haddad, J. G., Jr, & Hahn, T. J. (1973). Natural and synthetic sources of circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D in man. *Nature*, *244*(5417), 515-517.
- Haddad, J. G., Hu, Y. Z., Kowalski, M. A., Laramore, C., Ray, K., Robzyk, P., & Cooke, N. E. (1992). Identification of the sterol- and actin-binding domains of plasma vitamin D binding protein (gc-globulin). *Biochemistry*, *31*(31), 7174-7181.
- Haddad, J. G., Matsuoka, L. Y., Hollis, B. W., Hu, Y. Z., & Wortsman, J. (1993). Human plasma transport of vitamin D after its endogenous synthesis. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *91*(6), 2552-2555. doi:10.1172/JCl116492
- Hagen, E., Myhre, A. M., Smeland, S., Halvorsen, B., Norum, K. R., & Blomhoff, R. (1999). Uptake of vitamin A in macrophages from physiologic transport proteins: Role of retinol-binding protein and chylomicron remnants. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, *10*(6), 345-352.
- Hagenau, T., Vest, R., Gissel, T. N., Poulsen, C. S., Erlandsen, M., Mosekilde, L., & Vestergaard, P. (2009). Global vitamin D levels in relation to age, gender, skin pigmentation and latitude: An ecologic meta-regression analysis. Osteoporosis International : A Journal Established as Result of Cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, 20(1), 133-140. doi:10.1007/s00198-008-0626-y
- Hall, L. M., Kimlin, M. G., Aronov, P. A., Hammock, B. D., Slusser, J. R., Woodhouse, L. R., & Stephensen, C. B. (2010). Vitamin D intake needed to maintain target serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in participants with low sun exposure and dark skin pigmentation is substantially higher than current recommendations. *The Journal of Nutrition, 140*(3), 542-550. doi:10.3945/jn.109.115253
- Hammad, S. M., Stefansson, S., Twal, W. O., Drake, C. J., Fleming, P., Remaley, A., . . . Argraves, W. S. (1999). Cubilin, the endocytic receptor for intrinsic factor-vitamin B(12) complex, mediates high-density lipoprotein holoparticle endocytosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(18), 10158-10163.

- Handley, D. A., Arbeeny, C. M., & Chien, S. (1983). Sinusoidal endothelial endocytosis of low density lipoprotein-gold conjugates in perfused livers of ethinyl-estradiol treated rats. *European Journal of Cell Biology*, 30(2), 266-271.
- Haq, J. A., & Szewczuk, M. R. (1992). Differential effect of aging on membrane immunoglobulin (mlg)-mediated endocytosis in the inductive and effector sites of the mucosal immune system. *Regional Immunology*, 4(3), 138-144.
- Haucke, V. (2006). Cargo takes control of endocytosis. *Cell, 127*(1), 35-37. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.012
- Hayes, C. E. (2000). Vitamin D: A natural inhibitor of multiple sclerosis. *The Proceedings* of the Nutrition Society, 59(4), 531-535.
- Heller, J. (1975). Interactions of plasma retinol-binding protein with its receptor. specific binding of bovine and human retinol-binding protein to pigment epithelium cells from bovine eyes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *250*(10), 3613-3619.
- Hinrichsen, L., Harborth, J., Andrees, L., Weber, K., & Ungewickell, E. J. (2003). Effect of clathrin heavy chain- and alpha-adaptin-specific small inhibitory RNAs on endocytic accessory proteins and receptor trafficking in HeLa cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(46), 45160-45170. doi:10.1074/jbc.M307290200
- Hodam, J. R., St Hilaire, P., & Creek, K. E. (1991). Comparison of the rate of uptake and biologic effects of retinol added to human keratinocytes either directly to the culture medium or bound to serum retinol-binding protein. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 97(2), 298-304.
- Holick, M. F. (2003). Vitamin D: A millenium perspective. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 88(2), 296-307. doi:10.1002/jcb.10338
- Holick, M. F. (2007). Vitamin D deficiency. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 357(3), 266-281. doi:10.1056/NEJMra070553
- Holick, M. F. (2008). Sunlight, UV-radiation, vitamin D and skin cancer: How much sunlight do we need? *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 624*, 1-15. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-77574-6_1
- Holick, M. F., Smith, E., & Pincus, S. (1987). Skin as the site of vitamin D synthesis and target tissue for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. use of calcitriol (1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3) for treatment of psoriasis. *Archives of Dermatology*, *123*(12), 1677-1683a.
- Hopkins, C. R., & Trowbridge, I. S. (1983). Internalization and processing of transferrin and the transferrin receptor in human carcinoma A431 cells. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *97*(2), 508-521.
- Huang, F., Khvorova, A., Marshall, W., & Sorkin, A. (2004). Analysis of clathrin-mediated endocytosis of epidermal growth factor receptor by RNA interference. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(16), 16657-16661. doi:10.1074/jbc.C400046200

- Huang, J., & Vieira, A. (2006). Evidence for a specific cell membrane retinol-binding protein transport mechanism in a human keratinocyte line. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, *17*(4), 627-631.
- Hunt, J. L., & Licht, P. (1998). Identification and structural characterization of a novel member of the vitamin D binding protein family. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology.Part B, Biochemistry & Molecular Biology, 121*(4), 397-406.
- Ito, Y., Sorensen, K. K., Bethea, N. W., Svistounov, D., McCuskey, M. K., Smedsrod, B. H., & McCuskey, R. S. (2007). Age-related changes in the hepatic microcirculation in mice. *Experimental Gerontology*, *4*2(8), 789-797. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2007.04.008
- Johnson, M. B., Chen, J., Murchison, N., Green, F. A., & Enns, C. A. (2007). Transferrin receptor 2: Evidence for ligand-induced stabilization and redirection to a recycling pathway. *Molecular Biology of the Cell, 18*(3), 743-754. doi:10.1091/mbc.E06-09-0798
- Jones, G., Strugnell, S. A., & DeLuca, H. F. (1998). Current understanding of the molecular actions of vitamin D. *Physiological Reviews*, *78*(4), 1193-1231.
- Juhlin, C., Lundgren, S., Johansson, H., Lorentzen, J., Rask, L., Larsson, E., . . . Klareskog, L. (1990). 500-kilodalton calcium sensor regulating cytoplasmic Ca2+ in cytotrophoblast cells of human placenta. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *265*(14), 8275-8279.
- Kajikawa, M., Ishida, H., Fujimoto, S., Mukai, E., Nishimura, M., Fujita, J., ... Seino, Y. (1999). An insulinotropic effect of vitamin D analog with increasing intracellular Ca2+ concentration in pancreatic beta-cells through nongenomic signal transduction. *Endocrinology*, 140(10), 4706-4712.
- Kamemura, K., & Kato, S. (1998). Detection of lectins using ligand blotting and polyacrylamide-type glycoconjugate probes. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 258(2), 305-310. doi:10.1006/abio.1998.2585
- Kang, Y. S., Zhao, X., Lovaas, J., Eisenberg, E., & Greene, L. E. (2009). Clathrin-independent internalization of normal cellular prion protein in neuroblastoma cells is associated with the Arf6 pathway. *Journal of Cell Science*, 122(Pt 22), 4062-4069. doi:10.1242/jcs.046292
- Kawaguchi, R., Yu, J., Honda, J., Hu, J., Whitelegge, J., Ping, P., . . . Sun, H. (2007). A membrane receptor for retinol binding protein mediates cellular uptake of vitamin A. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 315*(5813), 820-825. doi:10.1126/science.1136244
- Kawaguchi, R., Yu, J., Wiita, P., Honda, J., & Sun, H. (2008). An essential ligand-binding domain in the membrane receptor for retinol-binding protein revealed by large-scale mutagenesis and a human polymorphism. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(22), 15160-15168. doi:10.1074/jbc.M801060200

- Kawaguchi, R., Yu, J., Wiita, P., Ter-Stepanian, M., & Sun, H. (2008). Mapping the membrane topology and extracellular ligand binding domains of the retinol binding protein receptor. *Biochemistry*, 47(19), 5387-5395. doi:10.1021/bi8002082
- Kawamoto, T., Sato, J. D., Le, A., Polikoff, J., Sato, G. H., & Mendelsohn, J. (1983). Growth stimulation of A431 cells by epidermal growth factor: Identification of high-affinity receptors for epidermal growth factor by an anti-receptor monoclonal antibody. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 80(5), 1337-1341.
- Kerjaschki, D., & Farquhar, M. G. (1982). The pathogenic antigen of heymann nephritis is a membrane glycoprotein of the renal proximal tubule brush border. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 79(18), 5557-5561.
- Kew, R. R., & Webster, R. O. (1988). Gc-globulin (vitamin D-binding protein) enhances the neutrophil chemotactic activity of C5a and C5a des arg. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 82(1), 364-369. doi:10.1172/JCI113596
- Keyel, P. A., Mishra, S. K., Roth, R., Heuser, J. E., Watkins, S. C., & Traub, L. M. (2006). A single common portal for clathrin-mediated endocytosis of distinct cargo governed by cargo-selective adaptors. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, *17*(10), 4300-4317. doi:10.1091/mbc.E06-05-0421
- Khare, S., Bolt, M. J., Wali, R. K., Skarosi, S. F., Roy, H. K., Niedziela, S., . . . Bissonnette, M. (1997). 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 stimulates phospholipase C-gamma in rat colonocytes: Role of c-src in PLC-gamma activation. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 99*(8), 1831-1841. doi:10.1172/JCI119350
- Khare, S., Tien, X. Y., Wilson, D., Wali, R. K., Bissonnette, B. M., Scaglione-Sewell, B., . . Brasitus, T. A. (1994). The role of protein kinase-C alpha in the activation of particulate guanylate cyclase by 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in CaCo-2 cells. *Endocrinology*, 135(1), 277-283.
- Kirchhausen, T. (2000). Clathrin. *Annual Review of Biochemistry, 69*, 699-727. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.69.1.699
- Konger, R. L., & Chan, T. C. (1993). Epidermal growth factor induces terminal differentiation in human epidermoid carcinoma cells. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 156(3), 515-521. doi:10.1002/jcp.1041560310
- Kounnas, M. Z., Haudenschild, C. C., Strickland, D. K., & Argraves, W. S. (1994). Immunological localization of glycoprotein 330, low density lipoprotein receptor related protein and 39 kDa receptor associated protein in embryonic mouse tissues. *In Vivo (Athens, Greece)*, 8(3), 343-351.
- Koyyalamudi, S. R., Jeong, S. C., Song, C. H., Cho, K. Y., & Pang, G. (2009). Vitamin D2 formation and bioavailability from agaricus bisporus button mushrooms treated with ultraviolet irradiation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57(8), 3351-3355. doi:10.1021/jf803908q
- Kozyraki, R., Fyfe, J., Verroust, P. J., Jacobsen, C., Dautry-Varsat, A., Gburek, J., . . . Moestrup, S. K. (2001). Megalin-dependent cubilin-mediated endocytosis is a major pathway for the apical uptake of transferrin in polarized epithelia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 98*(22), 12491-12496. doi:10.1073/pnas.211291398
- Krauss, M., & Haucke, V. (2007). Phosphoinositides: Regulators of membrane traffic and protein function. *FEBS Letters*, 581(11), 2105-2111. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2007.01.089
- Kravchenko, L., Petrenko, A., Shanina, I., & Fuller, B. (2002). A simple non-enzymatic method for the isolation of high yields of functional rat hepatocytes. *Cell Biology International, 26*(11), 1003-1006.
- Lakadamyali, M., Rust, M. J., & Zhuang, X. (2006). Ligands for clathrin-mediated endocytosis are differentially sorted into distinct populations of early endosomes. *Cell, 124*(5), 997-1009. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.12.038
- Lambot, N., Lybaert, P., Boom, A., Delogne-Desnoeck, J., Vanbellinghen, A. M., Graff, G., . . . Meuris, S. (2006). Evidence for a clathrin-mediated recycling of albumin in human term placenta. *Biology of Reproduction*, 75(1), 90-97. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.105.050021
- Le Couteur, D. G., Warren, A., Cogger, V. C., Smedsrod, B., Sorensen, K. K., De Cabo, R., . . . McCuskey, R. S. (2008). Old age and the hepatic sinusoid. *Anatomical Record* (*Hoboken, N.J.: 2007*), 291(6), 672-683. doi:10.1002/ar.20661
- Lee, W. M., & Galbraith, R. M. (1992). The extracellular actin-scavenger system and actin toxicity. *The New England Journal of Medicine, 326*(20), 1335-1341.
- Lee, W. M., Galbraith, R. M., Watt, G. H., Hughes, R. D., McIntire, D. D., Hoffman, B. J., & Williams, R. (1995). Predicting survival in fulminant hepatic failure using serum gc protein concentrations. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, 21(1), 101-105.
- Lefkowitz, E. S., & Garland, C. F. (1994). Sunlight, vitamin D, and ovarian cancer mortality rates in US women. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 23(6), 1133-1136.
- Lemire, J. M., & Archer, D. C. (1991). 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 prevents the in vivo induction of murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 87(3), 1103-1107. doi:10.1172/JCI115072
- Levine, J. S., Allen, R. H., Alpers, D. H., & Seetharam, B. (1984). Immunocytochemical localization of the intrinsic factor-cobalamin receptor in dog-ileum: Distribution of intracellular receptor during cell maturation. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 98(3), 1111-1118.
- Lewin, D. A., & Mellman, I. (1998). Sorting out adaptors. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta,* 1401(2), 129-145.

- Liu, W., Yu, W. R., Carling, T., Juhlin, C., Rastad, J., Ridefelt, P., . . . Hellman, P. (1998). Regulation of gp330/megalin expression by vitamins A and D. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 28(2), 100-107.
- Llewellyn, D. J., Lang, I. A., Langa, K. M., Muniz-Terrera, G., Phillips, C. L., Cherubini, A., . . . Melzer, D. (2010). Vitamin D and risk of cognitive decline in elderly persons. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *170*(13), 1135-1141. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2010.173
- Lodish, H., Berk, A., Zipursky, S. L., Matsudaira, P., Baltimore, D., & Darnell, J. E. (Eds.). (2000). *Molecular cell biology* (4th Edition ed.). New York: W. H. Freeman & Co.
- MacDonald, P. N., Bok, D., & Ong, D. E. (1990). Localization of cellular retinol-binding protein and retinol-binding protein in cells comprising the blood-brain barrier of rat and human. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 87(11), 4265-4269.
- MacLaughlin, J. A., Anderson, R. R., & Holick, M. F. (1982). Spectral character of sunlight modulates photosynthesis of previtamin D3 and its photoisomers in human skin. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 216*(4549), 1001-1003.
- Mansouri, A., Gueant, J. L., Capiaumont, J., Pelosi, P., Nabet, P., & Haertle, T. (1998). Plasma membrane receptor for beta-lactoglobulin and retinol-binding protein in murine hybridomas. *BioFactors (Oxford, England)*, 7(4), 287-298.
- Masui, H., Castro, L., & Mendelsohn, J. (1993). Consumption of EGF by A431 cells: Evidence for receptor recycling. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *120*(1), 85-93.
- Mattner, F., Smiroldo, S., Galbiati, F., Muller, M., Di Lucia, P., Poliani, P. L., . . . Adorini, L. (2000). Inhibition of Th1 development and treatment of chronic-relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by a non-hypercalcemic analogue of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3). *European Journal of Immunology, 30*(2), 498-508. doi:2-Q
- McGuire, B. W., Orgebin-Crist, M. C., & Chytil, F. (1981). Autoradiographic localization of serum retinol-binding protein in rat testis. *Endocrinology*, *108*(2), 658-667.
- McVoy, L. A., & Kew, R. R. (2005). CD44 and annexin A2 mediate the C5a chemotactic cofactor function of the vitamin D binding protein. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950), 175*(7), 4754-4760.
- Mehta, R. G., & Mehta, R. R. (2002). Vitamin D and cancer. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, *13*(5), 252-264.
- Meier, U., Gressner, O., Lammert, F., & Gressner, A. M. (2006). Gc-globulin: Roles in response to injury. *Clinical Chemistry*, 52(7), 1247-1253. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2005.065680

- Meldolesi, J., Sciorati, C., & Clementi, E. (2000). The p75 receptor: First insights into the transduction mechanisms leading to either cell death or survival. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, *21*(7), 242-243.
- Mitsunari, T., Nakatsu, F., Shioda, N., Love, P. E., Grinberg, A., Bonifacino, J. S., & Ohno, H. (2005). Clathrin adaptor AP-2 is essential for early embryonal development. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 25(21), 9318-9323. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.21.9318-9323.2005
- Mizuta, K., Saito, A., Watanabe, T., Nagura, M., Arakawa, M., Shimizu, F., & Hoshino, T. (1999). Ultrastructural localization of megalin in the rat cochlear duct. *Hearing Research*, 129(1-2), 83-91.
- Mizwicki, M. T., & Norman, A. W. (2009). The vitamin D sterol-vitamin D receptor ensemble model offers unique insights into both genomic and rapid-response signaling. *Science Signaling*, 2(75), re4. doi:10.1126/scisignal.275re4
- Moestrup, S. K., Kozyraki, R., Kristiansen, M., Kaysen, J. H., Rasmussen, H. H., Brault, D., . . . Verroust, P. J. (1998). The intrinsic factor-vitamin B12 receptor and target of teratogenic antibodies is a megalin-binding peripheral membrane protein with homology to developmental proteins. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(9), 5235-5242.
- Morgan, E. H., & Moos, T. (2002). Mechanism and developmental changes in iron transport across the blood-brain barrier. *Developmental Neuroscience*, *24*(2-3), 106-113.
- Morgan, E. H., Smith, G. D., & Peters, T. J. (1986). Uptake and subcellular processing of 59Fe-125I-labelled transferrin by rat liver. *The Biochemical Journal*, 237(1), 163-173.
- Morris, J. E., Potter, S. W., & Gaza-Bulseco, G. (1988). Estradiol-stimulated turnover of heparan sulfate proteoglycan in mouse uterine epithelium. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *263*(10), 4712-4718.
- Motley, A., Bright, N. A., Seaman, M. N., & Robinson, M. S. (2003). Clathrin-mediated endocytosis in AP-2-depleted cells. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *162*(5), 909-918. doi:10.1083/jcb.200305145
- Mukherjee, S., Ghosh, R. N., & Maxfield, F. R. (1997). Endocytosis. *Physiological Reviews*, 77(3), 759-803.
- Napoli, J. L., Fivizzani, M. A., Schnoes, H. K., & DeLuca, H. F. (1979). Synthesis of vitamin D5: Its biological activity relative to vitamins D3 and D2. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 197(1), 119-125.
- Nguyen, T. M., Lieberherr, M., Fritsch, J., Guillozo, H., Alvarez, M. L., Fitouri, Z., . . . Garabedian, M. (2004). The rapid effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 require the vitamin D receptor and influence 24-hydroxylase activity: Studies in human skin fibroblasts bearing vitamin D receptor mutations. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *279*(9), 7591-7597. doi:10.1074/jbc.M309517200

- Norman, A. W. (1998). Sunlight, season, skin pigmentation, vitamin D, and 25-hydroxyvitamin D: Integral components of the vitamin D endocrine system. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 67*(6), 1108-1110.
- Norman, A. W. (2008). From vitamin D to hormone D: Fundamentals of the vitamin D endocrine system essential for good health. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 88*(2), 491S-499S.
- Norman, A. W., Mizwicki, M. T., & Norman, D. P. (2004). Steroid-hormone rapid actions, membrane receptors and a conformational ensemble model. *Nature Reviews.Drug Discovery*, *3*(1), 27-41. doi:10.1038/nrd1283
- Norman, A. W., Olivera, C. J., Barreto Silva, F. R., & Bishop, J. E. (2002). A specific binding protein/receptor for 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) is present in an intestinal caveolae membrane fraction. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 298(3), 414-419.
- Nykjaer, A., Dragun, D., Walther, D., Vorum, H., Jacobsen, C., Herz, J., ... Willnow, T. E. (1999). An endocytic pathway essential for renal uptake and activation of the steroid 25-(OH) vitamin D3. *Cell*, *96*(4), 507-515.
- Nykjaer, A., Fyfe, J. C., Kozyraki, R., Leheste, J. R., Jacobsen, C., Nielsen, M. S., ... Christensen, E. I. (2001). Cubilin dysfunction causes abnormal metabolism of the steroid hormone 25(OH) vitamin D(3). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 98*(24), 13895-13900. doi:10.1073/pnas.241516998
- Ochs-Balcom, H. M., Chennamaneni, R., Millen, A. E., Shields, P. G., Marian, C., Trevisan, M., & Freudenheim, J. L. (2011). Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms are associated with adiposity phenotypes. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *93*(1), 5-10. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2010.29986
- Ohta, M., Okabe, T., Ozawa, K., Urabe, A., & Takaku, F. (1985). 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (calcitriol) stimulates proliferation of human circulating monocytes in vitro. *FEBS Letters*, 185(1), 9-13.
- Orlichenko, L., Weller, S. G., Cao, H., Krueger, E. W., Awoniyi, M., Beznoussenko, G., ... McNiven, M. A. (2009). Caveolae mediate growth factor-induced disassembly of adherens junctions to support tumor cell dissociation. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 20(19), 4140-4152. doi:10.1091/mbc.E08-10-1043
- Osawa, M., Tsuji, T., Yukawa, N., Saito, T., & Takeichi, S. (1994). Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA encoding rabbit vitamin D-binding protein (gc globulin). *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology International, 34*(5), 1003-1009.
- Oshiro, S., Nakajima, H., Markello, T., Krasnewich, D., Bernardini, I., & Gahl, W. A. (1993). Redox, transferrin-independent, and receptor-mediated endocytosis iron uptake systems in cultured human fibroblasts. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *268*(29), 21586-21591.

- Park, S. C. (2002). Functional recovery of senescent cells through restoration of receptor-mediated endocytosis. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 123*(8), 917-926.
- Park, S. C., Park, J. S., Park, W. Y., Cho, K. A., Ahn, J. S., & Jang, I. S. (2002). Down-regulation of receptor-mediated endocytosis is responsible for senescence-associated hyporesponsiveness. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 959, 45-49.
- Pasutto, F., Sticht, H., Hammersen, G., Gillessen-Kaesbach, G., Fitzpatrick, D. R., Nurnberg, G., . . . Rauch, A. (2007). Mutations in STRA6 cause a broad spectrum of malformations including anophthalmia, congenital heart defects, diaphragmatic hernia, alveolar capillary dysplasia, lung hypoplasia, and mental retardation. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 80(3), 550-560. doi:10.1086/512203
- Perez, H. D. (1994). Gc globulin (vitamin D-binding protein) increases binding of low concentrations of C5a des arg to human polymorphonuclear leukocytes: An explanation for its cochemotaxin activity. *Inflammation, 18*(2), 215-220.
- Piquette, C. A., Robinson-Hill, R., & Webster, R. O. (1994). Human monocyte chemotaxis to complement-derived chemotaxins is enhanced by gc-globulin. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 55(3), 349-354.
- Ponka, P., & Lok, C. N. (1999). The transferrin receptor: Role in health and disease. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 31*(10), 1111-1137.
- Praefcke, G. J., Ford, M. G., Schmid, E. M., Olesen, L. E., Gallop, J. L., Peak-Chew, S. Y., . . . McMahon, H. T. (2004). Evolving nature of the AP2 alpha-appendage hub during clathrin-coated vesicle endocytosis. *The EMBO Journal*, 23(22), 4371-4383. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600445
- Prasad, P. D., & Ganapathy, V. (2000). Structure and function of mammalian sodium-dependent multivitamin transporter. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care, 3*(4), 263-266.
- Pucadyil, T. J., & Schmid, S. L. (2008). Real-time visualization of dynamin-catalyzed membrane fission and vesicle release. *Cell*, 135(7), 1263-1275. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.11.020
- Rappoport, J. Z. (2008). Focusing on clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *The Biochemical Journal*, *412*(3), 415-423. doi:10.1042/BJ20080474
- Rask, L., & Peterson, P. A. (1976). In vitro uptake of vitamin A from the retinol-binding plasma protein to mucosal epithelial cells from the monkey's small intestine. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 251(20), 6360-6366.
- Rebsamen, M. C., Sun, J., Norman, A. W., & Liao, J. K. (2002).
 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 induces vascular smooth muscle cell migration via activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Circulation Research*, *91*(1), 17-24.

- Redondo, C., Vouropoulou, M., Evans, J., & Findlay, J. B. (2008). Identification of the retinol-binding protein (RBP) interaction site and functional state of RBPs for the membrane receptor. *The FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 22*(4), 1043-1054. doi:10.1096/fj.07-8939com
- Riaz, S., Malcangio, M., Miller, M., & Tomlinson, D. R. (1999). A vitamin D(3) derivative (CB1093) induces nerve growth factor and prevents neurotrophic deficits in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. *Diabetologia*, 42(11), 1308-1313.
- Ritter, T. E., Fajardo, O., Matsue, H., Anderson, R. G., & Lacey, S. W. (1995). Folate receptors targeted to clathrin-coated pits cannot regulate vitamin uptake. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *92*(9), 3824-3828.
- Robinson, M. S., & Bonifacino, J. S. (2001). Adaptor-related proteins. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 13(4), 444-453.
- Rodemer, C., & Haucke, V. (2008). Clathrin/AP-2-dependent endocytosis: A novel playground for the pharmacological toolbox? *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, (186)*(186), 105-122. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-72843-6_5
- Ross, A. C., Manson, J. E., Abrams, S. A., Aloia, J. F., Brannon, P. M., Clinton, S. K., . . . Shapses, S. A. (2011). The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the institute of medicine: What clinicians need to know. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *96*(1), 53-58. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-2704
- Rothberg, K. G., Heuser, J. E., Donzell, W. C., Ying, Y. S., Glenney, J. R., & Anderson, R. G. (1992). Caveolin, a protein component of caveolae membrane coats. *Cell*, 68(4), 673-682.
- Rowling, M. J., Kemmis, C. M., Taffany, D. A., & Welsh, J. (2006). Megalin-mediated endocytosis of vitamin D binding protein correlates with 25-hydroxycholecalciferol actions in human mammary cells. *The Journal of Nutrition, 136*(11), 2754-2759.
- Sahali, D., Mulliez, N., Chatelet, F., Dupuis, R., Ronco, P., & Verroust, P. (1988). Characterization of a 280-kD protein restricted to the coated pits of the renal brush border and the epithelial cells of the yolk sac. teratogenic effect of the specific monoclonal antibodies. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *167*(1), 213-218.
- Sahali, D., Mulliez, N., Chatelet, F., Laurent-Winter, C., Citadelle, D., Roux, C., ... Verroust, P. (1992). Coexpression in humans by kidney and fetal envelopes of a 280 kDa-coated pit-restricted protein. similarity with the murine target of teratogenic antibodies. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 140(1), 33-44.
- Sato, Y., Murase, K., Kato, J., Kobune, M., Sato, T., Kawano, Y., . . . Niitsu, Y. (2008). Resolution of liver cirrhosis using vitamin A-coupled liposomes to deliver siRNA against a collagen-specific chaperone. *Nature Biotechnology*, 26(4), 431-442. doi:10.1038/nbt1396

- Schiodt, F. V., Bondesen, S., Petersen, I., Dalhoff, K., Ott, P., & Tygstrup, N. (1996). Admission levels of serum gc-globulin: Predictive value in fulminant hepatic failure. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, 23(4), 713-718. doi:10.1002/hep.510230409
- Schiodt, F. V., Rossaro, L., Stravitz, R. T., Shakil, A. O., Chung, R. T., Lee, W. M., & Acute Liver Failure Study Group. (2005). Gc-globulin and prognosis in acute liver failure. Liver Transplantation : Official Publication of the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the International Liver Transplantation Society, 11(10), 1223-1227. doi:10.1002/lt.20437
- Schwartz, G. G., & Hulka, B. S. (1990). Is vitamin D deficiency a risk factor for prostate cancer? (hypothesis). *Anticancer Research, 10*(5A), 1307-1311.
- Schwartz, G. G., Whitlatch, L. W., Chen, T. C., Lokeshwar, B. L., & Holick, M. F. (1998).
 Human prostate cells synthesize 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 from 25-hydroxyvitamin D3. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention : A Publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, Cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology, 7(5), 391-395.
- Schweizer, F. E., & Ryan, T. A. (2006). The synaptic vesicle: Cycle of exocytosis and endocytosis. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 16(3), 298-304. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2006.05.006
- Seetharam, B., Levine, J. S., Ramasamy, M., & Alpers, D. H. (1988). Purification, properties, and immunochemical localization of a receptor for intrinsic factor-cobalamin complex in the rat kidney. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *263*(9), 4443-4449.
- Selles, J., & Boland, R. (1991). Evidence on the participation of the 3',5'-cyclic AMP pathway in the non-genomic action of 1,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D3 in cardiac muscle. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 82*(2-3), 229-235.
- Senoo, H., Smeland, S., Malaba, L., Bjerknes, T., Stang, E., Roos, N., . . . Blomhoff, R. (1993). Transfer of retinol-binding protein from HepG2 human hepatoma cells to cocultured rat stellate cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(8), 3616-3620.
- Senoo, H., Stang, E., Nilsson, A., Kindberg, G. M., Berg, T., Roos, N., . . . Blomhoff, R. (1990). Internalization of retinol-binding protein in parenchymal and stellate cells of rat liver. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 31(7), 1229-1239.
- Shankaran, H., Resat, H., & Wiley, H. S. (2007). Cell surface receptors for signal transduction and ligand transport: A design principles study. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 3(6), e101. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.0030101
- Shimada, T., Mernaugh, R. L., & Guengerich, F. P. (2005). Interactions of mammalian cytochrome P450, NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase, and cytochrome b(5)

enzymes. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 435(1), 207-216. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2004.12.008

- Sigmundsdottir, H., Pan, J., Debes, G. F., Alt, C., Habtezion, A., Soler, D., & Butcher, E. C. (2007). DCs metabolize sunlight-induced vitamin D3 to 'program' T cell attraction to the epidermal chemokine CCL27. *Nature Immunology, 8*(3), 285-293. doi:10.1038/ni1433
- Sivaprasadarao, A., & Findlay, J. B. (1988). The interaction of retinol-binding protein with its plasma-membrane receptor. *The Biochemical Journal*, 255(2), 561-569.
- Smeland, S., Bjerknes, T., Malaba, L., Eskild, W., Norum, K. R., & Blomhoff, R. (1995). Tissue distribution of the receptor for plasma retinol-binding protein. *The Biochemical Journal*, 305 (*Pt 2*)(Pt 2), 419-424.
- Smith, M. (2010). Seasonal, ethnic and gender variations in serum vitamin D3 levels in the local population of peterborough.3(2)
- Sonnenberg, A., McCarty, D. J., & Jacobsen, S. J. (1991). Geographic variation of inflammatory bowel disease within the united states. *Gastroenterology*, *100*(1), 143-149.
- Specker, B. L., Ho, M. L., Oestreich, A., Yin, T. A., Shui, Q. M., Chen, X. C., & Tsang, R. C. (1992). Prospective study of vitamin D supplementation and rickets in china. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 120(5), 733-739.
- Speeckaert, M., Huang, G., Delanghe, J. R., & Taes, Y. E. (2006). Biological and clinical aspects of the vitamin D binding protein (gc-globulin) and its polymorphism. *Clinica Chimica Acta; International Journal of Clinical Chemistry*, 372(1-2), 33-42. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2006.03.011
- Speeckaert, M. M., Taes, Y. E., De Buyzere, M. L., Christophe, A. B., Kaufman, J. M., & Delanghe, J. R. (2010). Investigation of the potential association of vitamin D binding protein with lipoproteins. *Annals of Clinical Biochemistry*, *47*(Pt 2), 143-150. doi:10.1258/acb.2009.009018
- Speeckaert, M. M., Wehlou, C., Vandewalle, S., Taes, Y. E., Robberecht, E., & Delanghe, J. R. (2008). Vitamin D binding protein, a new nutritional marker in cystic fibrosis patients. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine : CCLM / FESCC, 46*(3), 365-370. doi:10.1515/CCLM.2008.084
- Staples, J. A., Posonby, A. L., Lim, L. L., & McMichael, A. J. (2003). Ecologic analysis of some immune-related disorders, including type 1 diabetes, in australia: Latitude, regional ultraviolet radiation, and disease prevalence. 111(4), 518.
- St-Arnaud, R., Arabian, A., Travers, R., Barletta, F., Raval-Pandya, M., Chapin, K., ... Glorieux, F. H. (2000). Deficient mineralization of intramembranous bone in vitamin D-24-hydroxylase-ablated mice is due to elevated 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and not to the absence of 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D. *Endocrinology*, 141(7), 2658-2666.

- Sundaram, M., Sivaprasadarao, A., DeSousa, M. M., & Findlay, J. B. (1998). The transfer of retinol from serum retinol-binding protein to cellular retinol-binding protein is mediated by a membrane receptor. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(6), 3336-3342.
- Takei, K., McPherson, P. S., Schmid, S. L., & De Camilli, P. (1995). Tubular membrane invaginations coated by dynamin rings are induced by GTP-gamma S in nerve terminals. *Nature*, 374(6518), 186-190. doi:10.1038/374186a0
- Ternes, S. B., & Rowling, M. J. (2009). The vitamin D transport protein Dab2 is expressed in prostate and colon epithelial cells and modulated by all-trans-retinoic acid.23
- Tishkoff, D. X., Nibbelink, K. A., Holmberg, K. H., Dandu, L., & Simpson, R. U. (2008). Functional vitamin D receptor (VDR) in the t-tubules of cardiac myocytes: VDR knockout cardiomyocyte contractility. *Endocrinology*, *149*(2), 558-564. doi:10.1210/en.2007-0805
- Traub, L. M. (2005). Common principles in clathrin-mediated sorting at the golgi and the plasma membrane. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta, 1744*(3), 415-437. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2005.04.005
- Vahlquist, A., & Torma, H. (1992). Retinol uptake by human keratinocytes--receptor-mediated or not? *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 99(4), 512-514.
- van der Mei, I. A., Ponsonby, A. L., Blizzard, L., & Dwyer, T. (2001). Regional variation in multiple sclerosis prevalence in australia and its association with ambient ultraviolet radiation. *Neuroepidemiology*, *20*(3), 168-174.
- van Etten, E., & Mathieu, C. (2005). Immunoregulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3: Basic concepts. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology,* 97(1-2), 93-101. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2005.06.002
- Vander Heiden, M. G., Cantley, L. C., & Thompson, C. B. (2009). Understanding the warburg effect: The metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 324*(5930), 1029-1033. doi:10.1126/science.1160809
- Verbeke, P., Perichon, M., Schaeverbeke, J., & Bakala, H. (1996). Effect of glycation of albumin on its binding to renal brush-border membrane vesicles: Influence of aging in rats. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, 1282(1), 93-100.
- Verboven, C., Rabijns, A., De Maeyer, M., Van Baelen, H., Bouillon, R., & De Ranter, C. (2002). A structural basis for the unique binding features of the human vitamin D-binding protein. *Nature Structural Biology*, 9(2), 131-136. doi:10.1038/nsb754
- Vieira, A. (1998). ELISA-based assay for scatchard analysis of ligand-receptor interactions. *Molecular Biotechnology*, *10*(3), 247-250. doi:10.1007/BF02740845
- Vieira, A. V., White, H. B., 3rd, & Vieira, P. M. (1996). An oocytic membrane receptor for biotin-binding protein. *FEBS Letters*, *382*(1-2), 183-185.

- Wang, J. Y., Wu, J. N., Cherng, T. L., Hoffer, B. J., Chen, H. H., Borlongan, C. V., & Wang, Y. (2001). Vitamin D(3) attenuates 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neurotoxicity in rats. *Brain Research*, 904(1), 67-75.
- Wang, L. H., Rothberg, K. G., & Anderson, R. G. (1993). Mis-assembly of clathrin lattices on endosomes reveals a regulatory switch for coated pit formation. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 123(5), 1107-1117.
- Wang, Y., Chiang, Y. H., Su, T. P., Hayashi, T., Morales, M., Hoffer, B. J., & Lin, S. Z. (2000). Vitamin D(3) attenuates cortical infarction induced by middle cerebral arterial ligation in rats. *Neuropharmacology*, *39*(5), 873-880.
- Webb, A. R., Kline, L., & Holick, M. F. (1988). Influence of season and latitude on the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D3: Exposure to winter sunlight in boston and edmonton will not promote vitamin D3 synthesis in human skin. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 67(2), 373-378.
- Weitz-Schmidt, G., Stokmaier, D., Scheel, G., Nifant'ev, N. E., Tuzikov, A. B., & Bovin, N. V. (1996). An E-selectin binding assay based on a polyacrylamide-type glycoconjugate. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 238(2), 184-190. doi:10.1006/abio.1996.0273
- White, P., & Cooke, N. (2000). The multifunctional properties and characteristics of vitamin D-binding protein. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism: TEM, 11*(8), 320-327.
- White, T., Lu, T., Metlapally, R., Katowitz, J., Kherani, F., Wang, T. Y., . . . Young, T. L. (2008). Identification of STRA6 and SKI sequence variants in patients with anophthalmia/microphthalmia. *Molecular Vision*, *14*, 2458-2465.
- Whyte, M. P., Haddad, J. G., Jr, Walters, D. D., & Stamp, T. C. (1979). Vitamin D bioavailability: Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels in man after oral, subcutaneous, intramuscular, and intravenous vitamin D administration. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 48*(6), 906-911.
- Wiley, H. S. (1988). Anomalous binding of epidermal growth factor to A431 cells is due to the effect of high receptor densities and a saturable endocytic system. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *107*(2), 801-810.
- Williams, M. H., Van Alstyne, E. L., & Galbraith, R. M. (1988). Evidence of a novel association of unsaturated fatty acids with gc (vitamin D-binding protein). *Biochemical* and Biophysical Research Communications, 153(3), 1019-1024.
- Willnow, T. E., Goldstein, J. L., Orth, K., Brown, M. S., & Herz, J. (1992). Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein and gp330 bind similar ligands, including plasminogen activator-inhibitor complexes and lactoferrin, an inhibitor of chylomicron remnant clearance. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *267*(36), 26172-26180.
- Wolf, G. (2007). Identification of a membrane receptor for retinol-binding protein functioning in the cellular uptake of retinol. *Nutrition Reviews, 65*(8 Pt 1), 385-388.

- Yamamoto, N., Homma, S., Haddad, J. G., & Kowalski, M. A. (1991). Vitamin D3 binding protein required for in vitro activation of macrophages after alkylglycerol treatment of mouse peritoneal cells. *Immunology*, 74(3), 420-424.
- Yamamoto, N., & Kumashiro, R. (1993). Conversion of vitamin D3 binding protein (group-specific component) to a macrophage activating factor by the stepwise action of beta-galactosidase of B cells and sialidase of T cells. *Journal of Immunology* (*Baltimore, Md.: 1950*), 151(5), 2794-2802.
- Yamamoto, N., & Naraparaju, V. R. (1996). Vitamin D3-binding protein as a precursor for macrophage activating factor in the inflammation-primed macrophage activation cascade in rats. *Cellular Immunology*, 170(2), 161-167. doi:10.1006/cimm.1996.0148
- Yang, F., Bergeron, J. M., Linehan, L. A., Lalley, P. A., Sakaguchi, A. Y., & Bowman, B. H. (1990). Mapping and conservation of the group-specific component gene in mouse. *Genomics*, 7(4), 509-516.
- Yang, L., Liang, J., Yao, G., Chen, P., & Hou, Y. (2005). 17beta-estradiol regulates the numbers, endocytosis, stimulative capacity and IL-10 secretion of mouse spleen dendritic cells. *Toxicology Letters*, 155(2), 239-246. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2004.09.016
- Yarar, D., Waterman-Storer, C. M., & Schmid, S. L. (2005). A dynamic actin cytoskeleton functions at multiple stages of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Molecular Biology of the Cell, 16*(2), 964-975. doi:10.1091/mbc.E04-09-0774
- Young, S. P., Roberts, S., & Bomford, A. (1985). Intracellular processing of transferrin and iron by isolated rat hepatocytes. *The Biochemical Journal, 232*(3), 819-823.
- Zehnder, D., Bland, R., Williams, M. C., McNinch, R. W., Howie, A. J., Stewart, P. M., & Hewison, M. (2001). Extrarenal expression of 25-hydroxyvitamin d(3)-1 alpha-hydroxylase. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 86*(2), 888-894.
- Zempleni, J., Gralla, M., Camporeale, G., & Hassan, Y. I. (2009). Sodium-dependent multivitamin transporter gene is regulated at the chromatin level by histone biotinylation in human jurkat lymphoblastoma cells. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 139(1), 163-166. doi:10.3945/jn.108.091967
- Zheng, G., Bachinsky, D. R., Stamenkovic, I., Strickland, D. K., Brown, D., Andres, G., & McCluskey, R. T. (1994). Organ distribution in rats of two members of the low-density lipoprotein receptor gene family, gp330 and LRP/alpha 2MR, and the receptor-associated protein (RAP). *The Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry : Official Journal of the Histochemistry Society*, *42*(4), 531-542.
- Zoncu, R., Perera, R. M., Sebastian, R., Nakatsu, F., Chen, H., Balla, T., . . . De Camilli, P. V. (2007). Loss of endocytic clathrin-coated pits upon acute depletion of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate. *Proceedings of the National Academy of*

Sciences of the United States of America, 104(10), 3793-3798. doi:10.1073/pnas.0611733104